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“Ada Ferrer’s astonishing Cuba succeeds brilliantly with an original approach, written in two voices folded together seamlessly—one personal, from the depths of family transplantation, and the other a historian’s lyrical narrative. She captures the epic sweep of the island’s story of slavery, massive sugar production, colonialism, and revolution. But she also shows how Cuba and the United States have long been joined at the hip in shared culture, political crises, and tragedy for the famous and the ordinary. Ferrer’s own ‘heavy inheritance’ is North America’s as well. Above all, Ferrer has achieved a page-turning masterpiece of her craft; rarely is good history this kind of literary performance.”

—David W. Blight, Yale University, Pulitzer Prize–winning author of Frederick Douglass: Prophet of Freedom

“With singular mastery and insight, Ada Ferrer reconstructs the intertwined histories of Cuba and the United States. It is an intimate and timely story, of conflict and misunderstandings, but also of opportunities and possibilities.”

—Alejandro de la Fuente, Afro-Latin American Research Institute, Harvard University

“Ada Ferrer makes Cuba’s American history come to life. Whatever you may think of the politics around Cuba, its rich and complex history and that of its people is told here in a thoughtful and compelling way, with revealing detail, deep research, and beautiful writing.”

—Soledad O’Brien, host of Matter of Fact with Soledad O’Brien and coauthor of Latino in America and The Next Big Story

“Ada Ferrer has written a sweeping, beautiful, and indispensable history of an endlessly fascinating country. Cuba captures the breadth and emotion of the story of a small country that has been at the center of so many major events shaping our world.”

—Ben Rhodes, author of After the Fall: Being American in the World We’ve Made

“So near and yet so far. We think we know Cuba but this book reveals that we have never grasped its epic and frequently tragic history. Ada Ferrer offers us the penetrating perspective of someone who is neither the complete insider nor the complete outsider, but who cares passionately about Cuba and its confounding entanglement with the United States.”

—Lynn Hunt, author of History: Why It Matters

“In clear and elegant prose, Ada Ferrer, a leading historian of Cuba, vividly brings to life the history of Cuba. I now have an unequivocal answer to those who ask me to recommend a book that will introduce them to the island nation, as well as a clear choice when selecting a text that will engage my students in the dramatic story of Cuba.”

—Lisandro Pérez, author of the award-winning Sugar, Cigars, and Revolution: The Making of Cuban New York

“With deft prose and a subtle sensibility, Ada Ferrer narrates the intimate, intertwined histories of the United States and its island neighbor Cuba. Antonio Maceo, José Martí, and others sought to transform the Spanish colony into a cross-racial republic, while thwarting US intrusion into the larger Americas. But powerful outsiders have presumed the right to shape events on the island, and found domestic allies willing to assist. As Ferrer’s delicate stories of ordinary people unfold alongside the doings of visionaries and politicians on both sides of the Straits of Florida, she wonders: Could there eventually emerge a mutual respect that might save our respective rulers from folly?”

—Rebecca J. Scott, author of Degrees of Freedom: Louisiana and Cuba after Slavery
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For my father, Ramón Ferrer, siempre presente

To the memory of:

My mother, Adelaida Ferrer (1926–2020), whom I adored

My half brothers, Hipólito Cabrera (1953–2020) and Juan José González (1946–2009), both left behind

My aunt, Ada Fernández (1930–2017), who welcomed me back

For my sister, Aixa, born here, and for Nailah, her daughter

For my husband, Gregg, and my daughters, Alina and Lucía, with all my love. In more ways than one, this is their story, too.
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Prologue THERE AND HERE


Cuba: An American History tells the story of a tropical island that sits between the Atlantic Ocean and the Caribbean Sea, not far from the United States. It is a history of more than half a millennium, from before the arrival of Christopher Columbus to the death of Fidel Castro and beyond. Yet, for a history so sweeping in scope, this is also a deeply personal book.

I was born in Havana between the Bay of Pigs invasion of 1961 and the Cuban Missile Crisis of 1962. My father was in New York, having left the island a few months earlier. My mother went into labor alone and hailed herself a cab to Workers’ Maternity. The hospital’s name fit the moment; Cuba was, after all, in the throes of a radical revolution, avowedly socialist and stridently anti-imperialist. Yet the hospital had been built two decades earlier under the rule of Fulgencio Batista, the very dictator Castro unseated in 1959. Monumental in size and style, the hospital won architecture awards when it was built. Its most emblematic feature towers over the main entrance, a soaring ceramic statue of a mother and child created by Teodoro Ramos Blanco, a Black sculptor who was among Cuba’s most renowned artists. That morning in June 1962, my mother paused and looked up at the statue as if in prayer before entering the hospital to give birth. Ten months later, she left Cuba, statuesque in her heels and with me an infant in her arms.

We left the house at six in the evening. My nine-year-old brother was outside playing with friends, and she had not told him that we were leaving without him. His father, her first husband, would not grant permission for him to go. At the airport, a woman in uniform put her fingers to my earlobes to feel the tiny gold-post earrings, as if about to take them, and then changed her mind. On arriving in Mexico, my mother had to rely on the kindness of a stranger to make it into the city. When we got to Jim Crow Miami a few months later, my mother encountered an old acquaintance helping officials assign newcomers to hotels. In the United States, my mother might have been regarded as Black, though in Cuba she was not. Her old friend assigned us to a white hotel. Arriving at the airport in New York a few days later, I opened my arms to my waiting father, as if I already knew him. These and other stories were my inherited memory of our departure from Cuba and our arrival in the United States.

After some initial moving around—Harlem, Brooklyn, Miami—we settled in West New York, New Jersey, a working-class community that was predominantly Cuban. On Saturdays, I wrote letters to my brother and grandmother in Cuba. On Sundays, I listened to our priest pray for the release of political prisoners on the island. Every September 8, I walked in the procession for Cuba’s patron saint, La Caridad del Cobre, or the Virgin of Charity, marching past buildings painted with anti-Castro graffiti. After work, my mother sometimes cried about people still back home—her son, in particular. An absent presence, a present absence, Cuba was impossible to escape.

Eventually I stopped trying and decided instead that I needed to understand it. To the stories I had heard for so long, I began adding my own questions. My parents had not lost property or income to the revolution, so why had they left? Why had their brothers and sisters mostly stayed? Does a revolution change people? Does migration? Who had my brother become, and who would I be if we had stayed? Alongside the phantasmagorical Cuba that surrounded me, I began conjuring my own.

Then in 1990, I returned to Cuba for the first time. I visited the people we had left behind—those still living. I listened to their stories and studied their old pictures. I traveled to the countryside where my parents were born, each in a different part of the island. I even went to Workers’ Maternity and took photographs of Teodoro Ramos Blanco’s sculpture of a mother and child. I made Cuba mine. In fact, I made it my life’s work. Immersing myself in its libraries and archives, I began a decades-long process of reconstructing the island’s past, and my own, from a seemingly bottomless source of frayed old documents. Sometimes the ink on their pages literally became powder in my hands; occasionally I paused at the sight of the shaky Xs—actually crosses—that took the place of signatures for people unable to write. And in the process of trying to summon up Cuba’s past, I came to regard it anew. I learned to see it from within and without, refusing the binary interpretations imposed from on high in Washington and Havana and Miami. I began translating Cuba for Americans and the United States for Cubans. Then I used all that to see myself, my family, and my own home—the United States—with different eyes.

This book is one result of that effort, a product of more than thirty years of work and of a lifetime of shifting perspectives between the country where I was born and the country where I made my life. It is at once a history I inherited and a history I have fashioned out of many possible ones. It is, in other words, what I have made of my sometimes heavy inheritance.



THE HISTORY OF CUBA LENDS itself to monumental and epic tellings. It is a story of violent conquest and occupation; of conspiracies against slavery and colonialism; of revolutions attempted, victorious, and undone. Epic, however, is often the preferred narrative of nation-states. So in telling this history, I have tried to heed the late Howard Zinn’s admonition to not let history become the memory of states. I have also remembered Leo Tolstoy’s advice in his second epilogue to War and Peace to not focus our histories merely on monarchs and writers, but rather to tell “the history of the life of the peoples,” as he called it.1 So, in this history of Cuba, kings and presidents, revolutionaries and dictators share space with many others. Some are human versions of historic men and women to whom monuments have been built. Other people—whether those taking up arms in a revolution or sewing to the light of glowworms in a slave hut or building a raft to take to sea—appear here without names, for those have not always survived in the historical record. They, too, serve as guides through this history, for they, too, move the stories of war and peace and life in these pages.

There is, however, another major force in the history of Cuba—not as important as its own people, but critical nonetheless. The United States. More than a history of Cuba, then, this book is also a history of Cuba in relation to the United States, a history of the sometimes intimate, sometimes explosive, always uneven relationship between the two countries. That is one reason I have titled the book Cuba: An American History.

The connections between Cuba and the United States stretch back over centuries and run in both directions. Few Americans have likely considered the significance of Cuba for the United States. During the American Revolution, Cubans raised funds in support of Washington’s army, and soldiers from Cuba fought against the British in North America and the Caribbean. As the thirteen colonies lost access to other British possessions, the Spanish colony of Cuba became a vital trading partner. In fact, Havana’s storehouse of coveted silver currency helped finance the new nation’s first central bank. Later, after Florida and Texas became states of the Union in 1845, propertied southerners—and even some northerners—looked to Cuba as a potential new slave state or two, as a way to buttress the power of slavery and its economy.

In 1898, the United States intervened militarily in Cuba and declared war on Spain. With that intervention, the United States turned what had been a thirty-year movement for Cuban independence into the conflict that history usually remembers as the Spanish-American War. The end of some four hundred years of Spanish rule was ritually observed at noon on January 1, 1899, with the synchronized lowering of every Spanish flag on the island. But the flag raised in its place was not a Cuban flag but an American one. With that began a full-fledged military occupation that ended four years later, only after Cuban leaders, under enormous pressure, agreed to grant the US government the right of intervention in Cuba. If the events of 1898 were fateful for Cuba, they also helped produce two consequential developments in the United States: first, the reconciliation of the white South and North after decades of disunion and, second, the emergence of the United States as an imperial power on the world stage.

For more than a century, the role of the United States in Cuban independence has been the subject of disagreement—a shared history viewed in radically divergent terms. Historically, American statesmen have tended to view US intervention in 1898 as an illustration of American benevolence. The United States had rallied to the cause of a neighbor’s independence and declared war to achieve it. In this version of history, Cuban independence was a gift of the Americans, and for that Cubans owed them a debt of gratitude. In Cuba, however, 1898 represents something entirely different: more theft than gift. There, 1898 was the moment when the United States swept in at the end of a war the Cubans had already almost won, claimed victory, and proceeded to rule over Cuba as a de facto colonial power. Cuba Does Not Owe Its Independence to the United States read the title of an important book published in Havana in 1950.2

Alongside that American presumption and Cuban resentment, however, existed dense networks of human contact forged over decades by people of all kinds in both countries. Cuba’s flag was designed and flown for the first time by Cuban exiles in the United States. The first pro-independence Cuban newspaper was published in Philadelphia, and the first national novel was written in New York. Cuba’s most famous patriot and writer, José Martí, spent more of his adult life in the United States than in Cuba, and the largest memorial service for Cuba’s most important war hero, Antonio Maceo, was held at Cooper Union in New York. Cubans traveled to the United States to study at Harvard and Tuskegee, to shop in Miami, to play baseball in the American Negro Leagues, to escape dictators, and to view the famous falls at Niagara. Americans traveled in the other direction: to drink during Prohibition in the States, to buy land and cigars, to convert people to Protestantism, to forge networks of Black solidarity, to honeymoon and to fish, to hear jazz and get abortions. Americans listened to Cuban music, and Cubans watched American movies. Americans bought Cuban sugar; Cubans bought American appliances. Actually, Cubans bought just about everything (except sugar) from the United States.

Then all that changed. Not overnight, exactly, but almost. When Fidel Castro was organizing and fighting his revolution against Fulgencio Batista, few could have foreseen the drastic realignment about to take place. But within two years of the revolutionary seizure of power in January 1959, the two countries would be at veritable war. The new Cuban government nationalized US properties, and Cubans staged a mock funeral, complete with coffins bearing the names of Esso, United Fruit, and so on. Crowds overturned the American eagle atop the monument to the Maine, the ship that launched the Spanish-American War and US intervention. They knocked down part of the monument to the island’s first president, Tomás Estrada Palma, who was once also a naturalized US citizen. Visiting the site today, one would find only the statue’s shoes atop the original pedestal. The history of American empire—and its repudiation—is written into the very streetscapes of Havana.

Soon the two countries closed their embassies and forbade travel. In 1961, American forces composed of Cuban exiles invaded, only to be captured and eventually returned to the United States in exchange for medicine and baby food. At the height of the Cold War, Cuba, long a client state of the United States, became the staunch ally of that government’s avowed enemy, the Soviet Union. Now Cuban sugar went to the Soviet Union, and oil and machinery that would have once come from the United States came from there as well. In October 1962, for the first time in its history, the mainland United States faced nuclear warheads pointed in its direction from within striking distance. Battle lines had not only been drawn, but also barricaded and mined.

The exigencies of the Cold War meant that for decades Americans generally understood Cuba primarily as a small—if dangerously proximate—satellite of the Soviet Union. Yet, its role in that global conflict notwithstanding, the Revolution of 1959 cannot be understood only within a Cold War framework. The Cuban Revolution was not one thing; it changed over time in goals and methods. Before taking power, it was emphatically not communist, nor particularly anti-American. Cubans did not support the movement against strongman Fulgencio Batista because they desired to live under socialism or at near war with the United States. Yet the revolution produced both outcomes in relatively quick succession. What explains how that happened, and what would follow, is less the context of the Cold War than the revolution’s relationship to history. Understanding that history—fascinating on its own terms and intriguing in its thorny entanglements with the United States—is therefore vital. Indeed, to overcome the ingrained enmities of more than half a century in both countries, a clear-eyed reckoning with the past, with history, is the first step forward.



HISTORY, HOWEVER, ALWAYS LOOKS DIFFERENT depending on where one stands. This book takes that observation as a point of departure. It is a history of Cuba that functions also as a kind of history of the United States. It is a shadow history, a necessarily selective, incomplete history of the United States reimagined from Cuban ground and Cuban waters. From that vantage point, America looks different. Indeed, it is not even America, a name that Cubans—like many others across the world—use to name not the United States, but the two continents and the islands of the Western Hemisphere. It is a name that, in theory, belongs as much to Cuba (or Mexico, Argentina, and Canada) as it does to the United States. That is another reason this book is called Cuba: An American History, to unsettle expectations about what America is and is not. Cuban history, meanwhile, can be many things. One of those is a mirror to the history of the United States. In this history of Cuba, then, US readers can see their own country refracted through the eyes of another, from the outside in, much as I have lived and understood both Cuba and the United States most of my life.






Part I Dispatches from the First America
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    A woodcut illustration from the 1494 publication of Christopher Columbus’s report of his arrival in the New World.








Chapter 1 HEAVEN AND HELL


The history of Cuba begins where American history begins. History, of course, has more than one meaning. It refers to events of the past—war and peace, scientific breakthroughs and mass migrations, the collapse of a civilization, the liberation of a people. But history also refers to the stories that people tell about those pasts. History in the first sense refers to what happened; in the second, to what is said to have happened. Cuban history begins as American history does in the second sense of the word: history as narrative, as one telling of many possible ones, invariably grander and necessarily smaller than the other kind of history—history as it is lived.1

For both Cuba and the United States, this second kind of history—history-as-narrative—often begins in 1492 with the epic miscalculation of a Genoese navigator Americans know as Christopher Columbus. In its day, Columbus’s gaffe was a perfectly reasonable one. He had studied navigational maps and treatises of both his contemporaries and the ancients; he had sailed on Portuguese ships to Iceland and West Africa. He understood—as had the Greeks and Muslims long before and most Europeans in his own time—that the world was not flat. And he used that knowledge and experience to make a deceptively simple argument. From Europe, the best way to reach the East was to sail west.

In an age when every European explorer was racing to find new trade routes to Asia, Columbus approached several European monarchs to propose his westerly route. The king of Portugal said no. King Ferdinand and Queen Isabella of Spain twice rejected the proposal. Eventually, after his third attempt, they decided to let him try. The year was 1492. The Spanish monarchs had just waged the final, victorious campaign of the Christian Reconquest, ending seven hundred years of Muslim control on the Iberian Peninsula. The majestic city of Granada, the last Muslim stronghold, fell to the Catholic kings on January 2, 1492. Columbus was there that day. He saw the royal banners of Ferdinand and Isabella flying atop the towers of the Alhambra, and he watched as the Muslim king knelt to kiss their royal hands. Columbus was still in the city later that month when Ferdinand and Isabella ordered Jewish residents of their kingdoms to convert to Christianity, leave voluntarily, or face expulsion. Thus did Columbus witness the final victory of a militant and intolerant religiosity. In fact, he was its beneficiary, for it was only with that war over that the Catholic monarchs acceded to Columbus’s unusual venture.

On Friday, August 3, 1492, just three days after the deadline for the Jews of Spain to leave and a half hour before sunrise, Columbus set sail. He bore the title the king and queen had conferred on him: High Admiral of the Ocean Sea and Viceroy and Governor for life of all the islands and continents he might discover. As befitting a man of that rank, he peered out at the horizon with confidence. Wealthy, thriving Asia awaited him, just on the other side of a sea he was sure he could cross “in a few days with a fair wind.”2

Two months and nine days later, on October 12, 1492, Columbus and his weary sailors made landfall on a small island. Convinced he was somewhere in Asia, which Europeans of the time called India, he asked two captains to “bear faithful testimony that he, in the presence of all, had taken… possession of the said island for the King and for the Queen his Lords.”3 Columbus directed a secretary to come ashore with him and consign the event to writing, and therefore to history. Nothing anyone wrote, not even Columbus’s own journal, survived in its original form. The people who watched from shore—henceforth known to Europeans as Indians because of Columbus’s error—wrote nothing at all. Even had the first survived and the second existed, no writing produced in that moment could have conveyed the momentousness those events would later acquire. Columbus and his men had arrived in another world—new to them, ancient to the people already there. With that arrival began not history itself, but one of the most important chapters of it ever written.



THE STORY OF COLUMBUS’S ARRIVAL in the so-called New World is completely familiar to readers in the United States and has been for centuries. One of the country’s early national anthems was called “Hail, Columbia,” the title referring, of course, to Columbus. Cities and towns across the young country took Columbus’s name. In the nation’s capital, the District of Columbia, a painting called the Landing of Columbus has graced the Rotunda of the Capitol Building since the 1850s. The date of that landing remains today a national holiday. Generations of American schoolchildren have learned the story of Columbus, usually only a little after learning to read. That they often forget most of the details can be gleaned from the recent experience of a park ranger at the national monument at Plymouth Rock, the site of the first landing of the Mayflower pilgrims. The park ranger once explained that the most common questions she fields from visitors have to do with the famous Genoese sailor. “Was this where Columbus first landed?” they often ask her. Confused, many ask why the historical marker at the site says 1620 and not 1492.4 Columbus begins US history not only in this kind of popular conception, but also in much of the nation’s written history, from the very first ones ever published in the early decades of the nineteenth century to the 2018 book These Truths: A History of the United States, by Harvard professor and New Yorker writer Jill Lepore.5

For decades, historians and activists have pointed out at least two glaring problems with the Columbus myth as history. They focus on the violence unleashed by Columbus’s arrival—the long and tragic history of genocide and Native dispossession it inaugurated. Here, Columbus is no hero at all. In 2020, activists across the United States targeted monuments dedicated to his memory—tying ropes around his statue and pulling it down in Minneapolis, beheading one in Boston, setting another aflame in Richmond and then plunging it into a lake. Activists and historians point out another simple fact: namely, that Columbus did not discover America. The people of the lands on which he arrived in 1492 already knew they were there. The hemisphere had a population significantly larger than Europe’s and cities that rivaled Europe’s in size. Its people had political systems, agriculture, science, their own sense of history, their own origin stories set in pasts long before Columbus. This critical and accurate appraisal of the Columbus myth applies not just to the United States, but to Cuba and all the Americas.

Yet there is a further distortion that arises from making Columbus the beginning of US history specifically. In a casual conversation with a Connecticut businessman waiting to board a flight in Havana’s airport, I mentioned writing a book on the history of Cuba from Columbus to the present. His question was sincere: Did Columbus discover Cuba, too? I hesitated before responding, feeling a little like the park ranger at Plymouth Rock. He did land in Cuba, I said, forgoing the word discover. But he never set foot anywhere on what we now call the United States. The businessman looked at me in disbelief. It was a simple, indisputable fact received like a revelation: Columbus never came to this America.
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How is it that a history that did not even occur on the North American continent came to serve as the obligatory origin point of US history? There are, after all, other possibilities—even for those people who insist on beginning with the arrival of Europeans: Leif Erikson and the Vikings in 1000, for example, or John Cabot in 1497, Jamestown in 1607, or Plymouth Rock in 1620, to name the most obvious. Scholars sometimes maintain that a newly independent United States, searching for an origin story not indebted to Great Britain (its erstwhile mother country), pivoted to embrace Christopher Columbus and 1492. Then the renarration stuck.6

Yet Columbus was convenient for another reason as well. The conception of US history as originating in 1492 emerged precisely as the new country’s leaders began developing policies of territorial expansion. As early as 1786, Thomas Jefferson had prophesied that Spain’s empire would collapse, and he expressed his wish for the United States to acquire it “peice by peice [sic].”7 By the 1820s and 1830s, Jefferson’s casually stated desire had become a matter of national policy. The 1820s saw the enunciation of the Monroe Doctrine, which sought to limit the reach of Europe in newly independent Latin America, leaving the continent open to the growing power of the United States. The 1840s saw the emergence of Manifest Destiny, the idea that the United States was meant to extend through Indian and Spanish territories all the way to the continent’s Pacific Coast. The lands of the collapsing Spanish Empire, an empire set in motion by Columbus’s voyage of 1492, were now squarely in the sights of American leaders. George Bancroft, the author of one of the very first histories of the United States, was one of those politicians. As secretary of the navy and acting secretary of war, his actions would further US expansion into once-Spanish Texas and California during the administration of James Polk, himself also a strong advocate of US expansionism and one of several presidents to propose purchasing Cuba from Spain.

When early US historians such as Bancroft nudged Columbus, a man who never set foot in the lands of the United States, into the first chapter of a new national saga, they essentially seized a foreign history to make it theirs, some of them fully expecting that the lands on which that history had unfolded would soon be theirs, too. Today, Americans recognize the basic story of Columbus, often unmindful of the fact that it unfolded in another America. If Columbus begins US history as written, that is partly because, consciously or unconsciously, imperial ambitions have shaped US history from the beginning, too. And Cuba—where Columbus did land—is a critical presence in that American history.



IN 1492, COLUMBUS FIRST MADE landfall not in Cuba, but on the easternmost island of the Bahamas. He immediately claimed it for Spain and christened it San Salvador, though the people already there had always called it Guanahani. Meeting them for the first time, Columbus concluded that they would make good servants and convert easily to Christianity. They rowed out to the Spanish ships in canoes, which Columbus and his men had never seen before, bearing skeins of cotton thread, parrots, darts, and things so numerous and small that he declared they would be too tedious to recount. Columbus had other things in mind. “I was attentive and took trouble to ascertain if there was gold… and by signs I was able to make out that to the south… there was a king who had great cups full.” The next day, taking several Native people to serve as guides, Columbus left Guanahani and continued his journey. He did not sail past any island without taking possession of it, something he did by merely saying it was so. To each, he gave a name, even though they already had names.8

On October 28, Columbus arrived at an island he thought looked larger than all those around it. He was right. At more than 42,000 square miles, it boasted 3,700 miles of coastline, most of it on the northern and southern coasts. The distance between its eastern- and westernmost points—some 750 miles—would be roughly equal to that between New York City and Savannah, Georgia. Some say that the island’s very long, narrow shape gives it the appearance of an alligator, one of its own native species.

Columbus landed on the island’s northeastern coast. It was, he said aloud, “the most beautiful that eyes have seen.” He spotted dogs that did not bark, unknown fruits wonderful to taste, land that was high like Sicily, mountains with peaks like beautiful mosques, and air that was scented and sweet at night. Though the people of the place called the island Cuba or Cubanacán, Columbus insisted that it was Cipangu, the name Marco Polo had given to Japan, a land awash in great riches. Unfortunately for Columbus, Cuba had no teeming cities, no golden-roofed palaces; it had no silver and no obvious sources of bountiful gold.9

Eventually, out of deference to that stubborn reality, Columbus did two things. First, he modified his original assumption. Cuba was not Cipangu, but Cathay, or mainland China. (Columbus died more than a decade later, still never having come to terms with the fact that Cuba was simply Cuba.) Second, when the island disappointed him, he did what many continue to do to this day: he left. Thirty-eight days after his arrival, he sailed away in search of more land and more gold. Undeterred, he wrote to his royal patrons as if that were no setback at all. He emphasized other forms of wealth: natural beauty and pliable Indians whose souls might be easily saved. With a confidence that came from a few weeks of exploration, he promised thriving cultivation in cotton, which could be sold in the cities of the “Gran Can, which will be discovered without doubt, and many others ruled over by other lords, who will be pleased to serve” the king and queen of Spain.10

From Cuba, Columbus headed east to another island. The people of Cuba called it Bohío or Baneque; the people of that island called it Ayiti, or land of high mountains. The Spanish would call it simply Española (in English, Hispaniola), home today to both Haiti and the Dominican Republic. On December 25, 1492, a few weeks after his arrival, one of his ships ran aground. Columbus established Europe’s first permanent settlement in the New World at the site. He called it Navidad, Christmas. A few weeks later, leaving forty men and the damaged vessel there, he departed for Spain with samples of gold, six Natives, and exciting discoveries to report.

Columbus told of the lands he had claimed for Spain—not necessarily as he found them, but embellished, as he wished them to be. Everywhere he went, people honored him as a hero. He rode on horseback next to the king, and men hurried to volunteer for his next voyage. For Columbus and the Spanish monarchs, the goal of the second expedition was to establish a permanent Spanish presence in what they thought was the heart of Asia and to use it as a base for trade, exploration, and conquest. When Columbus set sail this time, he was at the head of an expedition with seventeen ships and a contingent of about 1,500 men. There was a mapmaker, a doctor, and not one woman. While several priests joined the expedition hoping to bring their god to the Natives, most of the passengers hoped for more earthly rewards, namely gold. On that voyage, Columbus also carried sugarcane cuttings. He had no way of knowing then that sugar would have a far greater impact in the Caribbean islands than either God or gold.

When the expedition arrived in Hispaniola in November 1493, a new reality greeted them. On disembarking, the eager arrivals found Christian clothing strewn near the coast and the bodies of Spaniards decomposing under light brush. Locals explained that the settlers had angered their immediate neighbors by murdering some men and taking five women each “to minister to [their] pleasure.” Leaving behind the scenes of carnage, Columbus sailed on and founded a new settlement, La Isabela, named in honor of his queen. He put his brother in charge and left almost immediately to do what he liked best: to sail and explore and, hopefully, to find gold. He returned to Cuba and explored the island’s southern coast. Sailing by the eastern portions of that coast, he would have seen mountains that rose abruptly to heights of thousands of feet; farther west on the southern coast, he would have noted the marshland and mangrove islands that dominate the landscape. From there he continued his explorations, landing in Jamaica for the first time. But fast surmising that the best chance of gold lay in Hispaniola, which he now likened to the biblical lands of Sheba, he returned there and assumed his position as governor.11

It was in Hispaniola that the first phase of European conquest and colonization of the Americas unfolded in earnest. Trouble there began immediately. Internal rivalries cleaved the community of Spanish settlers. While some of those conflicts centered on the authority of Columbus, most derived from the fact that every settler seemed to want more—more gold and more people to work it. The disputes among the Spanish were trifling compared to the suffering inflicted upon the Native people of the island. To command their labor, Spaniards removed men from their villages and transported them to mines far from home to work without respite. Relations with Native people soured quickly, sometimes erupting into open warfare. Between the unforgiving work, malnutrition, war, and disease, the population decline was catastrophic. According to estimates, more than eight of every ten Native persons died by 1500, less than a decade into the conquest. By 1530, the Indigenous population of Hispaniola had declined by about 96 percent.12 With the labor supply dwindling even faster than the gold, colonists embarked on slaving missions to nearby islands, stealing people from the Bahamas, Cuba, and elsewhere to staff the mines they hoped would make them rich. When that was not enough to sustain the settlers, they set their sights on nearby islands.



IT WAS THEN THAT THE conquest and colonization of Cuba began in earnest. In 1511, Diego de Velázquez, who had accompanied Columbus on his second voyage, founded the first Spanish settlement on the island and became its governor. The Indigenous name for the place was Baracoa; Velázquez called it Nuestra Señora de la Asunción. But the original name stuck, and the Spanish and everyone else continued to call it Baracoa, the name it bears today. The settlement was near the tip of the island, facing east into the Caribbean. From the mountains that rose behind it, a person could see Hispaniola just about fifty miles across a sea passage navigable by Native canoes.

Native people traversed those waters frequently, to trade and fish, to share news, to flee their new bearded masters. As Spanish enslavement of Natives in Hispaniola began destroying lives and communities, some escaped across those waters to Cuba. So, when the Spanish first arrived in Baracoa, there were people there who already knew about Europeans and what they had done in Hispaniola.

One of them was a man named Hatuey, a nobleman and chief from Hispaniola, who led his followers to Cuba to elude the conquerors. The story of Hatuey’s last stand has survived because Bartolomé de Las Casas, onetime colonist turned priest, included it in his searing condemnation of the Spanish conquest, A Short Account of the Destruction of the Indies, which the English eagerly translated with titles such as Spanish Cruelties and The Tears of Indians.13 Las Casas’s conscientious objection to conquest, his passionate voice, and the moralizing character of his account sometimes give his stories the feel of parable. That is the case with his telling of Hatuey’s history. But if he perhaps embellished for the sake of narrative, the basic outline of his account—the violence of the conquest, the pain and resistance of the conquered—is undeniable.

Las Casas tells us that, once in Cuba, Hatuey gathered his people on the banks of a river and addressed them. “You already know that it is said the Christians are coming here; and you have experience of how they have treated… those people of Hayti; they come to do the same here.” Why do the Spanish do this, he asked his listeners, who speculated that it was out of cruelty and wickedness. No, Hatuey insisted, “not alone for this [reason], but because they have a God whom they greatly adore and love; and to make us adore Him they strive to subjugate us and take our lives.” Hatuey gestured to a basket of gold and intoned, “Behold here is the God of the Christians.” To get rid of the newcomers they had to get rid of the gold, Hatuey concluded. Then he threw the basket into the river.14

The Spanish came nonetheless. Initially, Hatuey and his followers resisted. Soon, however, the invaders captured and condemned him to burn at the stake. Before the sentence was carried out, a Spanish priest gave Hatuey the opportunity to convert to Christianity and thus save his soul and ascend to heaven. Hatuey asked whether Christians went to heaven. When the friar answered that the good ones did, Hatuey at once answered that he preferred hell, “so as not to be where Spaniards were.”15 That may have been the first political speech recorded on Cuban soil. But it did nothing to avert Hatuey’s fiery death, nor to save Native people from the catastrophe already befalling them.



HATUEY AND HIS PEOPLE CAME to be known as Taínos, though what they called themselves in 1492 or 1511, we do not know. Taínos lived in the four largest islands of the Caribbean (Hispaniola, Puerto Rico, Cuba, and Jamaica), as well as in the Bahamas. In Cuba, the Taínos were not the only Indigenous group, but they were by far the most numerous, and they bore the first brunt of European conquest. They had settled in Cuba at least five hundred years before, and by the time of Columbus’s arrival, they numbered between one and two hundred thousand souls. The bulk of this population was concentrated in the eastern and central parts of the island, where they lived in villages, sometimes with hundreds of residents and a leader called a cacique. Their modest thatched-roof homes—bohíos—looked much like the typical rural dwellings that dot parts of the Cuban countryside to this day. Rather than slash and burn their fields, they developed a sophisticated system of agriculture, heaping up the soil in mounds several feet high and more feet wide. Called conucos, the mounded fields improved drainage, checked erosion, and were particularly suited to growing root vegetables such as cassava (yuca), a staple of the Taíno and, eventually, the Cuban diet. The conuco system, wrote one scholar, was “an imitation by man of tropical nature, a many-storied cultural vegetation, producing at all levels, from tubers underground through the understory of pigeon peas… a second story of cacao and bananas, to a canopy of fruit trees and palms… an assemblage [that] makes full use of light, moisture, and soil.” Three centuries after the Spanish conquest, a version of the conuco was still in use—not by the Taínos (of whom by then there were relatively few) but by enslaved Africans, who had come to represent a large share of the island’s population and its main generator of wealth.16

The Taíno planted tobacco separately, smoked it, chewed it, and introduced it to Europeans, who had never seen it before. They played güiros and maracas, musical instruments that are still played today across Latin America and the Caribbean. Women prayed to Attabeira, the spirit guardian of female fertility, for a safe childbirth. Taíno youths played elaborate ball games using rubber balls. The Spaniards, who had never before encountered rubber and had no verb for what rubber did, struggled to describe what they were seeing: “These balls… even if they are only let slip from the hand to the ground, they rise much further than they started, and they make a jump, and then another and another, and many more.” Taíno words for things like hurricanes and sharks, unknown in Spain before 1492, are the words still used today across the Spanish-speaking world: huracán, tiburón.17

The Spaniards of Cuba occasionally recorded observations of this sort. But, for the most part, they were less concerned with the culture of Taíno people than with making fortunes off their backs. To rule the Taíno, the Spanish used the same means they had developed in Hispaniola. In both places (and later across Mexico and South America), the foundation of early colonial rule was a system called encomienda. Under its provisions, the Spanish governor assigned each local ruler (cacique) with all the people of his village to a Spanish settler, now an encomendero. Some encomenderos received perhaps three hundred Natives; a few received more; some just forty or sixty. The cacique was then responsible for sending groups of laborers to the mines for months at a time to harvest gold for the encomendero. When those workers returned (or died), others went.18

The Spanish Crown hoped that the encomienda would yield a better result in Cuba than in Hispaniola, where both gold and Natives had diminished rapidly. Wanting to avoid the same fate in his new territory, the king asked officials to draft a set of laws in 1512, just as Spaniards began settling Cuba. The new legislation was meant to curb Spanish abuses and ensure the smooth functioning and longevity of this unprecedented endeavor. The laws, for example, forbade encomenderos from punishing Natives with whips or clubs or from calling them dogs.19

Another law from this period required conquerors to read a prepared script as they first entered villages. Known as the requerimiento, the 1513 document informed Natives of a “chain of command from God to pope to king to conquerors.” It also required Native leaders to recognize papal and royal authority and to surrender their lands and persons without resistance. To those who acceded, the document promised:


Their highnesses and we in their name, shall receive you in all love and charity, and shall leave you, your wives, and your children and your lands, free without servitude… and they shall not compel you to turn Christians, unless you yourselves, when informed of the truth, should wish to be converted.



To those who rejected the conquerors’ demands, however, the requerimiento promised a different fate:


With the help of God, we shall powerfully enter into your country, and shall make war against you… and shall subject you to the yoke and obedience of the Church and of their highnesses; we shall take you and your wives and your children, and shall make slaves of them… and we shall take away your goods, and shall do you all the mischief and damage that we can… [and] the deaths and losses which shall accrue from this are your fault and not that of their highnesses or ours.20



Written on the eve of the founding of Spain’s first permanent settlement in Cuba, the requerimiento theoretically guided the beginnings of European colonization there. The king admonished Velázquez, the governor of Cuba, to refrain from relying too much on war against Native people and urged him to perform the requerimiento. Even at the time, however, some observers recognized the absurdity of the document. It was read in Spanish to people with no knowledge of the language. Some chroniclers said it was read to trees and empty huts, residents already having fled in terror. Other commentators doubted whether anyone bothered to read it at all.21



WITH THESE CONTRADICTORY AMBITIONS, THE Spanish conquered and settled Cuba. In just four years, Velázquez established seven towns: Baracoa, Bayamo, Santiago, Trinidad, Camagüey, Sancti Spíritus, and Havana. Initially, for the Spanish at least, the new towns prospered. In each, Velázquez appointed councilmen, judges, sheriffs, and notaries. He ordered the planting of crops and the building of churches, gold mines, and a smelting plant to process ore. The labor for all of it was performed by Taínos.22

By law, encomienda required that in exchange for that labor, the encomendero feed, clothe, Christianize his charges, and not overwork them. Between theory and practice, however, there was a chasm. The encomenderos could not feed their charges, because their charges were actually feeding them, using their own labor and knowledge to grow the food on which everyone depended. Generally, the encomienda system wreaked havoc on Taíno communities. Most of the gold in Cuba was far from existing villages. When the Spanish mobilized people to work it, they took them far from their homes and their livelihoods. Without sources of food near the mines, hunger exacerbated the hardship of overwork. The Spanish confiscated food from villages to feed the workers, but the supply was never sufficient, and the extraction left the villages more susceptible to hunger.

Under these conditions, it is not surprising that people resisted. Hatuey—the man who preferred Hell to sharing Heaven with the Christians—was among the first and most famous. But resistance did not end with him. Two Taíno chiefs who claimed to have supernatural powers (immunity to Spanish weapons and the ability to see and know everything that transpired anywhere on the island) were captured and killed in 1528. Another named Guamá led anti-Spanish movements for years, until he was killed in the early 1530s.23 Many others, whose names have not survived in the historical record, ran away or resisted by other means.

The combination of overwork, famine, and war would have been sufficient to cause significant loss of life. But Indigenous people across the Americas also faced a rash of diseases completely new to them—smallpox, measles, yaws, and influenza, against which they had no immunity. Periodic epidemics ravaged a population already severely compromised. According to one estimate, a Native population of about one hundred thousand in 1511 dwindled to less than five thousand by 1550. An unknown number died by their own hands. One Spaniard testified that in some areas more than half the Indigenous population had killed themselves. When the same man found three boys ill from eating dirt—potentially a form of suicide—he “had their penises and testicles cut off… made them eat them soaked in dirt, and afterwards he had [the boys] burned” to death. He never considered, or maybe never cared, that trying to deter suicide through torture might simply result in more suicide. In a few decades, the Indigenous population in Cuba declined by perhaps as much as 95 percent.24

Desperate for more people to rule over and make work for them, the settlers began fanning out to other shores. In 1516, an expedition to an island off the coast of the Yucatán Peninsula returned with 20,000 pesos’ worth of gold—fully one-fifth of what was amassed in Cuba in an entire year. Another expedition in 1517 landed in Mexico and returned to Cuba with two Natives and tales of lands blessed with precious minerals and Indigenous populations not in decline. News of that discovery “set the Christians mad with desire to possess the country they described.”25

In February 1519, another expedition left Cuba for Yucatán. Its leader was the encomendero Hernán Cortés, who had aspirations to wealth greater than what Cuba offered. He embarked illegally, in defiance of the governor, with whom he was in a long-standing dispute. In April 1519, he landed his forces, claimed Mexico for Spain, and began his march into the heart of the Aztec empire. From there he sent word abroad that anyone who wished to come conquer and settle in the newly discovered lands would be paid in gold, silver, and jewels, and they would be granted encomiendas as soon as the country was pacified.26 For men who had come to the New World seeking fortune and reinvention, the prospect of more gold and more Natives was too tempting to forgo.

Thus began the conquerors’ exodus from Cuba. Hatuey, the island’s first anti-Spanish warrior, had been correct. The bearded white men did follow the gold. In the same way that Spaniards had poured into Cuba a few years earlier, they now poured out, in pursuit of riches and glory elsewhere. Between 1517 and 1520, some two thousand Spaniards left the island; between 1520 and 1540, Cuba lost about another 80 percent of its Spanish population. To halt the exodus and not cede territory already claimed for Spain, the king made leaving Cuba punishable by loss of both property and life. But there weren’t enough officials on hand to enforce the order, and the Spaniards continued to leave for Mexico. After the 1530s, they departed for the fabulous Inca empire of South America, or for Florida, “a continent of which nothing was known and everything anticipated.”27



CALL IT THE CURSE OF an island. Land was tangibly finite. So, too, seemed opportunity. Many of those who could leave, left. The capital city of Santiago was reduced to thirty Spanish households; Trinidad was deserted; Baracoa, the island’s first European settlement, was reduced to “the shadow… of a rural hamlet.” A 1544 count of the population across the island tallied just 122 Spanish heads of household, about 900 free Native people, and some 700 enslaved souls. These numbers, however, did not take account of small Native communities that survived by remaining hidden and uncounted by the Spanish. Equally important, the 700 people held in slavery included not only Natives, but also Africans, who had begun arriving through the nascent transatlantic slave trade, to which we will turn a little later.28

Not every Spaniard left, of course, and not every Indigenous person died. A few Native communities quietly rebuilt. People had children and grandchildren, sometimes of mixed Spanish, Taíno, or African ancestry. Today in Cuba, a small number of people proudly claim Taíno identity. In a recent genetic study, 35 percent of the women sampled descended from an Amerindian woman.29 And Cubans, often without realizing it, regularly use things that the Taínos bequeathed to them: from tobacco to hammocks to a host of everyday words whose origins recall a time long before Columbus.

But, in the 1520s or 1530s, had it been possible to fly a hot-air balloon over the island, that legacy would not yet have been apparent. Instead, our pilot would have observed a few scattered towns and settlements of modest structures and few people—ghostly, resilient places where survivors remembered the multitudes of people lost. All around the island, our pilot would have seen beautiful, lush forests. Coming down a little lower, she might have noticed all the pigs, tens of thousands of them. Brought to the New World by the conquerors, they flourished and multiplied in the tropical landscape, devouring crops, and, in the absence of substantial human settlement, becoming masters of the land and, many years later, Cuba’s favorite meal.






Chapter 2 KEY TO THE INDIES


From the moment of their arrival in the New World, Spanish explorers and conquerors began elbowing for legacy. Juan Ponce de León had not been the luckiest or most accomplished among them. Briefly governor of Puerto Rico, he lost that title because of a rivalry with the Columbus family. Perhaps in recompense, the king authorized him to explore lands to the north, claim them for the Crown, and rule them as governor for life. In 1513, eager to make his mark, he set sail at the head of a convoy of three ships for an island known as Bimini, famed, according to some accounts, for its gold and, according to others, for its Fountain of Youth.1

Ponce de León found two other things instead. The first was a great peninsula he named Florida. He did not think to name the second, stranger thing he encountered: a current more powerful than the wind, like a warm, rushing river in the middle of the sea. It formed in the Gulf of Mexico (not yet named) and reached maximum speed in the straits between Cuba, Florida, and the Bahamas. At its most powerful point, which Ponce de León called the Cape of Currents, he lost one of his ships for several days, even though the weather was clear. Unbeknownst to his sailors, the current continued north, parallel to the coast of North America, which the Spanish did not yet realize was a continent. Eventually, it turned east and out into the Atlantic Ocean, which the men of the age called simply the Ocean Sea, believing there to be but one ocean in all the universe.2

More than two centuries later, Benjamin Franklin would encounter the same current at a more northern point. He studied it, interviewing New England whalers and reading navigation accounts of the ancients. Then he mapped it and named it the Gulf Stream. But in 1513, the powerful current was just one more mystery of nature in an age that provided many.

The pilot who navigated the lead ship in the 1513 voyage that first encountered the Gulf Stream was Antón de Alaminos, a man with a knack for being in the right place and near the right people at the right time. A few years after his voyage with Ponce de León, he was the lead pilot of the expedition that sailed from Cuba to Mexico under the command of Hernán Cortés. A few months later, Cortés dispatched him to Spain carrying the first news of Mexico’s conquest and the first substantial shipment of New World treasure. Cortés, who had left Cuba in defiance of the island’s governor, warned Alaminos to avoid the island on his voyage. But the master sailor recalled the strange, powerful current he had encountered with Ponce de León, and he knew what his route would be. He sailed into the Gulf of Mexico, north around the western tip of Cuba to Havana.

    In August 1519, however, Havana was not yet Havana. The Spanish settlement that bore that name was still on the island’s southern coast, plagued by mosquitos and readying to relocate to the site where it sits today. So, Alaminos arrived at the small settlement on the northern coast a few months before Havana itself officially did. That suited him just fine. Given Cortés’s enmity with Cuba’s governor, Alaminos was not looking to make a formal call at port, nor, possibly, to land in jail. He wanted only provisions and to locate the strange current he remembered from before. The Cuban governor, however, had his spies, and from them he learned of Alaminos’s visit. When Alaminos set sail for Spain, people gathered to watch, and they wondered at the unusual course his ship took, a course, they said, unknown and dangerous. Why, the governor later pondered, did Alaminos, who was “so skilled in seafaring ways,” take “a route by which no one ever sails”?3 But Alaminos knew something that others had not yet figured out: the place where Havana was about to move sat almost within sight of the extraordinary current he had discovered only a few years earlier. He used that current now to propel himself—and the treasure he carried—north and then east with the winds, all the way to Spain.



FOR ALMOST THREE CENTURIES, SPANISH treasure fleets carrying dizzying amounts of gold and silver would follow that same route. The great quantities of precious minerals in Mexico and Peru, and the existence in both places of massive Native empires capable of providing the labor to mine them, soon transformed Spain into the wealthiest and most powerful place on earth. And the discovery of the Gulf Stream that guided the treasure ships to Spain turned Havana into the “Key to the New World.”

As Spain’s fortunes soared, other European states paid keen attention, wondering how they, too, might reap the rewards of the New World. England and France began commissioning sea captains to attack Spanish vessels as they returned to Europe loaded with gold and silver. The Mediterranean Sea filled with pirates, corsairs, and privateers. It did not take long for them to realize that Spain’s treasure was significantly more vulnerable in the Caribbean, where the Spanish had fewer forts and ships, and fewer soldiers and sailors.

Havana, where Spanish ships usually stopped to restock and rest before the long journey across the Atlantic, was especially vulnerable. A small hamlet and not yet the capital of the colony, it had but a few dozen Spanish households in 1538, the year of its first known pirate attack. Little information has survived about that assault, but whatever happened, it prompted the Spanish Crown to order the construction of the island’s first fortress.4

The Spanish governor who oversaw its construction was a woman. Isabel (or Inés) de Bobadilla arrived in Havana in 1538 with her husband, Hernando de Soto, a conqueror recently returned from Peru having collected part of the gold ransom for the Inca king executed by Francisco Pizarro. The Spanish king appointed de Soto governor of Cuba and charged him with organizing an expedition to conquer Florida, which the Spanish knew about but had not yet begun to colonize. Less than a year after his arrival, he left Cuba with six hundred men, designating his wife as his replacement. Four years later, he died on the western banks of the Mississippi River, never having returned to Cuba or to his wife.

Old Cuban myth casts Inés de Bobadilla as heartbroken by the departure of her husband. Today, a bronze statue of a woman, which legend claims is her, sits in a weathervane atop the city’s oldest surviving fortress. For centuries, the statue has been a symbol of Havana. High above the city, she scans the horizon looking north toward Florida for all eternity, “always turning toward the wind that will bring her missing husband home.”5 In real life, however, she was almost certainly too busy to pine. Governor of an increasingly important city at a dangerous time, she protected her territory from pirate attacks and oversaw the construction of the new fortress. On the side, she owned several sugar mills near Cojímar, a village just east of Havana that Americans would later know as the setting for Ernest Hemingway’s The Old Man and the Sea.



SHORTLY AFTER INÉS DE BOBADILLA’S rule, the Spanish Crown made a decision that transformed the fate of Havana. By order of the king, all vessels making the journey from Spain to the New World would travel in groups of no less than ten 100-ton vessels accompanied by an armed ship, hence the term armada. For the return voyage to Spain, vessels were required to assemble in Havana and then cross the Atlantic together. In 1551, the year Spain introduced its famous armed galleons, an armada of over thirty ships wintered in Havana. Small, exposed, and unprepared, the city suddenly found itself the warehouse for the globe’s greatest treasure.6

Life in Havana revolved around the yearly arrival of the treasure fleets. Before they arrived, innkeepers cleaned, tidied, and readied for the advent of fleet season. Outside the city, farmers grew the food that would later feed the sailors. They raised large numbers of pigs and used the meat—cut and dried under the sun—to provision the ships and their crews. In the 1550s and 1560s, the average stays of the ships loaded with Mexican treasure was almost two months; the ones from South America stayed about forty days. Sometimes as many as sixty vessels with thousands of sailors and crew converged on the city. While the ships were in port, the erstwhile sleepy hamlet hummed with life. Taverns, which outnumbered the city’s year-round households, did a brisk business. Innkeepers made their yearly earnings in those two months. Having learned some of the ways of the island’s Native inhabitants, they rented out hammocks to visitors. To help pass the time, and perhaps to frontload pleasure in a way that might allow its memory to sustain them on the long journey ahead, sailors sought hard drink, games of chance, and human companionship of one kind or another. They saw to practical matters as well: they repaired their ships and purchased supplies for the Atlantic crossing. Some sought notaries “to organize their earthly affairs before sailing through an ocean populated by unknown beasts and by well-known pirates, all of them enemies of His Catholic Majesty.”7

In many ways, Havana became a version of what it would remain for centuries to come: a place oriented outward. Its economy depended on precious minerals from other Spanish territories of the New World and on goods and markets from many corners of the globe. Increasingly, Havana would become the site of a secular, commercially oriented, cosmopolitan culture. But day-to-day in the early sixteenth century, people lived that culture by looking out to sea. Everyone—guards stationed atop fortresses, the governor in his residence, ordinary people walking near the water’s edge—eagerly searched the horizon for the dependable source of manna of every year: ships laden with gold and silver and manned by men eager to partake of (and pay for) everything that Havana had to offer.



THERE WAS, HOWEVER, A MAJOR problem: if wealth came from outside, so, too, might the forces that could violently destroy it. The City Council complained repeatedly to the king about how easy it would be for enemies to seize the port and how great would be the damage to the Crown were that to happen. “God forbid,” they added for good measure. They lamented that the town had but thirty heads of household, many of them aged and infirm, incapable of resisting a foreign attack, ready only to perish should one come.8 The city depended on the outside world for its survival. But residents also knew that as the rest of Europe increasingly challenged Spain’s ascendancy, the city’s potential annihilation might also arrive from the outside, on those ships visible on the horizon.

At about sunrise on July 10, 1555, the guard posted at the lookout on the headland across the bay from the city saw a caravel and raised a flag in signal. When the ship sailed past the port, heading west, observers knew this was no ordinary ship. The governor sent two men on horseback to follow the vessel along the shoreline. What they saw sent them racing back to warn everyone: the ship had anchored and landed two boatfuls of well-armed men. They numbered about two hundred, and in neat formation they were marching to Havana over land. As many had feared, the city was unprepared for an attack. Within a half hour of their arrival, the invaders burned down the gates of the recently constructed fortress, took two dozen prisoners, and hoisted their flag over the fort. “It all happened so quickly that it seemed the stuff of dreams,” recounted one witness.9

The leader of the attack was the French pirate Jacques de Sores. Nicknamed the Exterminating Angel, he had cut his teeth as captain under the notorious one-legged pirate known as Peg Leg. Like most French pirates, Sores was a Protestant. Perhaps for that reason he enjoyed negotiating Havana’s ransom with a Catholic priest and demanding the substantial sum of thirty thousand pesos. When the priest came back with a counteroffer significantly lower, Sores replied, “I thought only France had lunatics.” Unless he received the ransom, he warned, he would “raze the earth.”10

The city did not have the ransom to pay, so on July 28, Sores ordered all Havana burned to the ground. The fortress built under the rule of Inés de Bobadilla was so badly damaged it was rendered unusable. Only three buildings survived the assault: a hospital, a church, and the house where the pirates had holed up. Sores’s men went into churches and desecrated them. From the robes of priests, they made cloaks and capes. They stole chalices and a monstrance. They stabbed a wooden sculpture of the Virgin Mary and disrobed another. They dismembered a statue of Jesus on the cross and burned the crucifix. The pirates attacked the countryside as well. Near Cojímar, they burned farms and took more prisoners, among them six enslaved Africans for whom Sores demanded another ransom. Residents refused to pay, and the Africans—whose names the chroniclers did not bother to record—were hanged outside the pirates’ headquarters and left there for all to see. Then on August 5, 1555, under a full moon, Sores and his men set sail with their ransom of 2,200 pesos and a gold chain, leaving Havana “no better than the Greeks left Troy,” according to one account.11

Sores’s attack made clear to the Spanish Crown that Havana was too easy a target. And because Havana was the seasonal warehouse for all of Spain’s New World treasure, Havana’s weakness rendered the whole empire vulnerable. By the 1580s, the waters of the Caribbean were said to be “caked with corsairs” and as “full of French as Rochelle.”12 The English, too, refused to recognize Spain’s monopoly over the Americas. English privateers attacked Spanish cities and ships wherever they found them—in Asia (where Spain ruled over the Philippines), off Peru on the Pacific coast of South America, and all around the islands and coasts of the greater Caribbean. In wartime, the English government licensed as many as one hundred privateers a year to attack Spanish shipping.13

To counter such threats, Madrid strengthened its defensive policies. It started appointing military men—as opposed to lawyers—as governors of the island. It sent expeditions to attack French outposts in Florida and to reassert Spain’s ostensibly God-given right to the hemisphere, established by a papal bull in 1494. The king ordered the construction of a new and massive fort—the Castillo de la Real Fuerza (atop which today stands the statue that legend describes as Inés de Bobadilla). Soon after, he ordered the construction of two new forts, one on each side of the bay. The fort of San Salvador, facing the mouth of the harbor, was completed in 1600. The Castle of the Three Wise Men, which sits atop the promontory across the harbor, was partially functional by 1594 and finished in 1630. All would be staffed by a permanent garrison and funded by Mexican silver.14


[image: Gray map of Havana]
Havana, famed “key to the Indies,” was the most fortified city of the New World. The four-pointed fortress of La Fuerza dominates this map of Havana drawn sometime after 1567. A boom between the smaller fortifications on either side of the bay impeded the entry of unauthorized ships.



Together, the massive new structures proclaimed the strength of Spain’s empire. This was the new Havana. A famed Italian philosopher in 1591 referred to it as “the key, not only to this island, but of the whole new world.” Fittingly, when King Philip II of Spain granted Havana its own coat of arms in 1592, the image was of three fortress towers topped by a golden key.15



LIKE VIRTUALLY ALL NEW WORLD wealth, Havana’s had an underside: African slavery. African captives had been arriving in Cuba since the beginning of Spanish rule, accompanying Columbus and then successive waves of Spanish settlers. Voyages directly from Africa to Cuba did not begin until 1526, when two ships arrived from the West African coast with 115 captives. The first recorded voyage to Havana occurred in 1572. Others followed, and by the first decade of the seventeenth century, Africans would represent almost half of Havana’s population.16

Their labor was visible everywhere. In the countryside, Africans and their descendants produced the food that fed the city, its soldiers, and its transient fleets. A loan from the Crown helped establish almost twenty new sugar mills in the early seventeenth century, all of which used slave labor.17 In Havana, enslaved Africans built the forts meant to make Havana impregnable. African men extracted, chopped, carved, and chiseled large stones; they felled trees and dug ditches for the fortifications. Some had learned blacksmithing in Africa and now worked making cannonballs and chains for the forts. Enslaved women performed other kinds of labor, cooking, cleaning, and doing laundry for soldiers and sailors. Some rented out rooms, or charged for sex. In the city, enslaved people had more opportunities to hire themselves out to others, an arrangement that allowed them to retain a portion of the cash they earned for their masters. They used that cash for myriad things: a hen to supplement their diet, a Sunday skirt, or even a slave of their own.

Early slavery in Cuba was governed by the thirteenth-century legal treatises known as the Siete Partidas. In theory, these laws offered the enslaved access to legal practices unknown in British North America. Enslaved people in Cuba could denounce abuses of their masters, and those denunciations might result in their transfer to another, ostensibly less abusive, master. Slaves could also purchase freedom on installment, whether their own or that of loved ones—children, partners, siblings, parents. Legal avenues to freedom, combined with the opportunities afforded by a vibrant mercantile economy, meant that the population of free people of color increased dramatically. By 1610, about 8 percent of habaneros were free people of color. By 1774, the year of the first census in Cuba, they represented more than 40 percent of the island’s population of color. Throughout this period and beyond, they would play a major role in the course of Cuban history.18

That the enslaved in Cuba (and elsewhere in Spanish America) had recourse to legal institutions such as self-purchase might at first suggest that slavery in those places was milder, or more flexible, than that which came to prevail in British North America or, later, in the United States.19 But limited rights in theory rarely equated to rights in practice. Take the question of corporal punishment. Spain’s medieval law of slavery placed strict limits on it, yet slaveholders practiced it with impunity. The pervasiveness and severity of punishment was such that authorities had to step in. The island’s first municipal laws, published in 1573, stated that masters were abusing their slaves by “whipping them… and stuffing them with different types of resin and burning them, and other cruelties from which they die.” To discourage that behavior, the law announced that masters would be subject to the confiscation of those they mistreated and to other unspecified punishments. Yet the confiscations rarely happened.20

Another practice that gives the lie to the theory of a mild, benevolent slavery was one pursued by the enslaved themselves, who sought amelioration of their condition or freedom itself by running away from slavery. Fugitives sometimes headed to settlements in nearby hills (Havana, unlike eastern Cuba, had no mountains to serve as shelter). They might hide in the city and hope to blend in among the growing population of free and freed Blacks. Men tried to make it to the ships in the harbor and find work and passage on vessels headed somewhere else. Flight from slavery was common enough that the same municipal ordinance that sought to punish slaveholders for cruelty also offered payment to people who captured runaways.21



IN THIS SIXTEENTH-CENTURY WORLD OF pirates, fortress builders, and fugitives, some enduring outlines of Cuban history began to take shape. One was the overwhelming power of Havana in relation to the rest of the island. As the new capital boomed, the old capital of Santiago survived largely by recourse to contraband. Sometimes several years would pass before the arrival of a Spanish vessel. Neglected by Spain, the people of eastern Cuba looked sometimes to Havana, but more often to the Caribbean—to the region’s growing numbers of French, Dutch, and English eager to buy and sell them goods. These were not random or sporadic encounters, but part of a vibrant system of illegal trade. Havana flourished, observes one historian, “as a result of the official presence, in defense of colonial policy; the east flourished as a result of the official absence, in defiance of colonial policy.”22 In either case, whether in Havana or Santiago, another outline comes into focus—that of an island whose people, of necessity, looked outward beyond its shores, from whence could come either salvation and deliverance, or invasion and destruction.






Chapter 3 COPPER VIRGIN


Almost five hundred miles east of Havana, much closer to where Columbus first landed on the island of Cuba, green mountains dotted with tall palms rise abruptly more than six thousand feet above sea level. These are prodigious, bounteous mountains. During the conquest, they served as refuge for Taínos fleeing Spain’s invasion; later, they shielded Africans escaping from slavery. In the nineteenth century, they sheltered bearded patriots waging wars of independence against the once-conquering Spanish. In the twentieth, they sustained other unshaven revolutionaries soon to challenge the supremacy of a newer imperial power, the United States.

In the seventeenth century, with Havana the depot for New World treasure, the mountains were bountiful in a different way. They were laden with rich deposits of copper ore. At the time, copper was in high demand for important commodities: the oil lamps that lit the altars at which the faithful prayed, the church bells by which people of the early modern world measured their days, the weapons with which men took each other’s lives. The copper mined in the mountains of eastern Cuba supplied artillery foundries in Havana, where the mineral was fashioned into cannons for new fortifications meant to fend off the likes of other Jacques de Sores.

High in the copper mountains of eastern Cuba was a small settlement with a historical significance that far outweighed its size. It was founded in 1599, almost a decade before the founding of Jamestown, Virginia, the first British settlement in North America. Christened with the cumbersome name of Royal Mines of Santiago del Prado, it soon became known by the simpler title of El Cobre (the copper), which is the name it bears today. Down the steep mountain slopes from the mines toward the Atlantic Ocean was a flat and fertile expanse of land where Native people and enslaved Africans planted cassava, corn, and plantains, and where they tended cows, pigs, and chickens. On the coast to the north, they collected salt. The crops they harvested and the meat they dried, preserved, and seasoned with that salt fed the enslaved men and women who mined the copper.1

One day, probably in September 1612, two Indigenous brothers named Rodrigo and Juan de Hoyos and a ten-year-old enslaved boy called Juan Moreno set out from that settlement with orders to bring back salt from the coast of the bay of Nipe. It was hurricane season, and bad weather forced the men to shelter overnight near a place known as Cayo Francés (probably after the French pirates who always threatened). Early the next morning, with the sea unusually still, the trio headed out in search of salt.

Instead, they encountered a divinity. In the water, the men spied a white object floating in the distance. Juan Moreno, the young Black boy, described the discovery some seventy-five years later as an old man.2


Drawing nearer it looked to them like a bird and even closer, the Indians said that it looked like a Girl. And in this discussion, they got closer and recognized and saw the Image of Our Lady the Holy Virgin with a child in her arms standing over a small plank.



One of the men leaned out over the edge of the canoe and used his hat to scoop up their unusual find. The statue was small, some four inches tall. The wood on which she stood had “big letters… and they said I am the Virgin of Charity. And they were astonished that although her garments were made of cloth they were not wet.”

When the three returned home with the effigy of the Virgin, everyone marveled. A few people quickly made a rustic altar and decorated it with branches, leaves, and flowers. The local overseer charged an enslaved African, Antonio Angola—so named for the African region of his birth—to alert authorities in El Cobre. There the administrator of the copper mines ordered that a shrine be built, and he sent a lamp (made of copper) to be placed at the altar, commanding that its flame remain always lit.3

But mysterious things happened. More than once, the Virgin disappeared from her altar in the middle of the night and reappeared in the morning with her clothes wet. Some suspected that Rodrigo de Hoyos, one of the two brothers who had found her at sea, was hiding her. Taínos often hid religious objects—cemís—in rivers to protect them from enemies. Some witnesses claimed to have overheard him saying that the Virgin was his and that the whites could not have her. But even after authorities tied up Rodrigo at night to prevent him from hiding the statue, she still disappeared. Worried, authorities decided that the Virgin should be taken to the city of Santiago, where she could be properly guarded and honored. The statue left for Santiago in a grand procession, escorted by royal soldiers, accompanied by music and volleys of rifle salutes. According to one account, when the group reached the fork in the road that divided the paths to Santiago and the mining settlement of El Cobre, the procession took the path to El Cobre instead of the intended one to Santiago—a sign, said some, of the will of God, or of hers.4

El Cobre—made up mostly of enslaved Africans—thus became the Virgin’s home. Local authorities ordered the construction of an altar for her in the parish church. There, too, reports of her miracles took flight. She was said to save and heal people, the oil in her lamp to replenish itself mysteriously. As had happened earlier, she took to disappearing at night, sometimes for days at a time. According to one legend, a young girl named Apolonia was walking in the mountains looking for her mother, an enslaved woman working in the mines, when, on top of a rock high on a hill, she found the missing Virgin. The recurring disappearances led people to conclude that the Virgin needed a chapel, a place where she wanted to be. So the priest celebrated a mass in which parishioners prayed for guidance in selecting a site for the shrine. That night, says another legend, three lights appeared atop the mountains, emanating from the very place where the young Apolonia had found the Virgin. The same lights were said to appear the following night. The choice seemed clear. It was at this site, high in the copper mountains, that the first permanent shrine to the Virgin of Charity was built in 1617.5 Thus began a five-hundred-year history of devotion and mythmaking that would turn the Virgin of Charity—La Caridad—into Cuba’s patron saint and one of the island’s most enduring cultural symbols. Today her story is known by all Cubans, whether they live in Santiago, Havana, Miami, or New York.



THERE IS, HOWEVER, ANOTHER STORY of the copper Virgin that has largely disappeared from popular memory. Unlike the tale of her miraculous appearance, it is a story of the material world in which the Virgin’s cult took root and flourished. It is the history of a singular community of enslaved men and women in the mining village of El Cobre.

The people of El Cobre—cobreros—were devotees of the Virgin of Charity; they saw her as their patroness and protector. Over the years, the community, composed of both enslaved and free people of color, raised funds to build and repair her altars and sanctuaries, and they honored her with processions, prayers, and promises. They asked for her divine intercession, for her help in the quest for salvation in the next world and in their struggle for liberation in this one.

El Cobre was a prosperous mining venture. Its copper was smelted locally, five hundred miles away in Havana, and across the Atlantic Ocean in Seville and Lisbon. In the second half of the seventeenth century, however, the mines ground to a standstill. The owners had mismanaged them, and pirates swarming the coasts made it almost impossible to transport the copper to its destinations. But what spelled disaster for the mine owners was a blessing for the miners. As copper production declined, the community of El Cobre thrived. Left to their own devices, enslaved and free cobreros worked for their own sustenance and benefit. Most of the men cultivated the land; the women engaged in surface, alluvial mining for copper. They sold the copper, once smelted, for bells, lamps, and other decorative pieces rather than for cannons. With their efforts and their earnings, many purchased their own or their family members’ freedom. The slaves of El Cobre, said one contemporary observer, “have been naturalized by Liberty.”6

Such matters, however, were not on the minds of authorities in Madrid when, in 1670, they confiscated the unprofitable mines. The only thing of real value left on the land was the enslaved labor force of 271 men, women, and children. And the king’s plan was to sell them. Rumors about their impending sale rocked the community that had lived as virtually free for decades. In 1677, when the cobreros learned that authorities were about to undertake an official inspection, presumably to begin the process of selling them, one hundred of them, armed with sticks and clubs, marched higher into the mountains. Among their leaders was Juan Moreno, the very man who at age ten had witnessed the Virgin’s miraculous apparition at sea and who in his thirties had served as guardian of her hermitage. Now in his seventies, he was the leader of the cobreros.7

From the mountains, Juan Moreno spoke for his community, which was composed, he said, of “humble blacks, slaves of His Majesty Our King and Lord.” They lived in peace, raised their families, worked in the copper mines, and helped build the church. A local official had recently said that the slaves of El Cobre were “not like the others; they are the king’s. They have a regard for words.” In 1677, Moreno used that regard for words to entreat the king to “grant us the mercy of remaining in our pueblo, paying our tribute in whatever manner is decided while we find [the means] to [purchase] our freedom.” Moreno’s petition referred to his people as a pueblo, a juridical term denoting a corporate entity with rights and obligations. By using it, Moreno made the case that their community was a legitimate political unit. And when he referred to its members’ desire to purchase their own freedom, he was invoking a long-standing right established in Spanish law. Moreno knew what he was doing.8

The petition worked. Town criers across the region read aloud a new decree promising on behalf of His Majesty that no one would be sold or taken from the community. The cobreros returned to their homes in El Cobre to live as a pueblo and as slaves of the king of Spain working toward their freedom. They converted empty or abandoned lands into their own small de facto farms and built new homes around the parish church, the heart of this most unusual pueblo. Whether they attributed their victory to the Virgin of Charity’s intercession, we do not know. But that same decade, with their own funds, they began constructing a new church for her. They built a new altar and honored her with a new lamp—now silver, rather than copper.9

The cobreros’ victory, however, did not put an end to struggles over their rights and freedoms. In the decades that followed, the community clashed repeatedly with local governors and mine administrators. In 1708–09, the governor attempted to disarm them. In the 1710s–20s, the government reduced the amount of land available to them. In 1731, the governor decreed that all the “discontented” slaves would be taken out of the village and sold as slaves. Fed up with what they saw as infringements on their rights, most of the cobreros rose up in rebellion. They chased away the few officials in town and together marched higher into the mountains. On the way, they stopped at the Virgin’s sanctuary to take her effigy with them. “They said it was theirs and that she was their remedy.” The rebellion proved worthwhile. The king reprimanded the governor and commanded that El Cobre’s royal slaves be treated well and without oppression.10

Still, the reprieve was temporary, as local officials continually challenged the cobreros’ prerogatives. By 1780, this near-permanent standoff was poised to end and deliver a thrashing defeat to the people of El Cobre. The Spanish Crown, eager to revive (and tax) the Cuban copper industry, surrendered the mines and the surrounding land to private owners, the descendants of the original sixteenth-century proprietors. The royal slaves would be sold in Santiago, Havana, and even as far away as Jamaica and Cartagena. Some of the cobreros working on the fortifications in Santiago heard the news and rushed to warn their companions. Hundreds of cobreros together made for the mountains in rebellion.

At the same time, the cobreros pursued legal avenues of protest. They sent a representative to Madrid, Gregorio Cosme Osorio, a free man of color born in El Cobre, married to an enslaved woman also born there. Cosme presented the community’s petition to the Crown. Like Juan Moreno’s more than a century earlier, the petition spoke of their dedication and loyalty to their king and church. For almost two decades, Cosme remained in Madrid making the case for his community. He received letters from his neighbors back home telling of the abuses of the new mine owners, who sent agents to take the cobreros’ money, clothes, and jewelry; they tied up and flogged men and boys, and stole their animals.11 One cobrero wrote to Cosme on behalf of the entire community, urging him to make haste with his mission:


Brother, hurry up by God, because the new masters are destroying us. They treat us like capital enemies, with inhumane punishments. I would tell you more but there is no pen capable of expressing them. Don’t forget Our Lady of Charity… whom I trust will help you succeed.12



Eventually, the king listened, and on April 7, 1800, he ordered that henceforth every cobrero would be free. They would receive parcels of land that could not be sold, divided, or taken away. Any lands vacated would be granted to other cobreros. In March 1801, the royal decree of freedom was ceremoniously read aloud in the Sanctuary of the Virgin of Charity, with all the community present.13 Their liberty came almost a full century before the end of slavery in Cuba. A miracle? Perhaps. But the achievement of freedom for this unusual pueblo was above all the result of less mysterious, more earthly forces: a powerful sense of community that nurtured a century and a half of legal and extralegal struggles for freedom and rights.



FROM AN OBSCURE LOCAL SYMBOL in the remote mountains of eastern Cuba, the Virgin of Charity would eventually become one of the most important cultural symbols of the nation as it emerged from four hundred years of Spanish rule. In due time, we will examine the Cuban struggle for independence. Here, however, it is worth pointing out that when the first independence war began in 1868, its leader hoisted a flag made from the canopy that had adorned the altar of the Virgin of Charity in his family’s chapel. Cuban rebels pinned her medallion to their undergarments; sometimes they borrowed her statue from churches to take into battle. Then, after independence was won, veterans of the wars against Spain successfully petitioned the Vatican to recognize the Virgin as a saint and the patroness of the Republic of Cuba.14

Over time, however, the story of the Virgin’s apparition changed. She grew lighter in complexion. The three persons to whom she had first appeared also changed. From two Indians and a Black slave, her discoverers became Native, Black, and white, representing the three cultures that served as the basis for Cuban nationhood. The names of the three men were altered as well; they became the three Juans—three Johns, or three Cuban “everymen.” The Black Juan—the enslaved ten-year-old boy from El Cobre, who as an old man had petitioned the king of Spain on behalf of his community and later provided the only known surviving account of the Virgin’s apparition—became indistinguishable from the others, in name at least. He was not entirely forgotten, but almost—just like the community of cobreros to which he belonged.

Yet history as lived is always a layered proposition, far richer and more human than the myth that sometimes goes in its guise. However dominant the whitewashed myth of Cuba’s patron saint, the other part of the story—the struggles of the cobreros for their freedom—did survive. After the cobreros’ victory, enslaved people in other parts of the island invoked their example. We want freedom like the cobreros said some of the enslaved who rebelled in Cuba in 1811. For decades, the mountains sheltered runaways from slavery, which continued to exist in Cuba until 1886. Descendants of the Black cobreros who won their freedom in 1800 fought for a different freedom later in that century, helping to win Cuban independence in 1898. Today, in El Cobre the traces of those and other struggles linger on barely under the surface. They repose quietly in the offerings left for the Virgin in her sanctuary—a medal, a crutch, a bullet offered by someone who survived a war, say. They whisper in the things inscribed in her book of autographs—“Blessed Virgin, please protect the liberty of Cuba,” wrote a man named Sixto Vasconcelos on January 11, 1903.15 They echo off the looming monument built in 1997 high on the slopes of El Cobre to honor the thousands of runaways from slavery, cobreros among them, who tried to make other histories on land much older than Columbus.
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In the eighteenth century, Havana was the third largest city in the New World and larger than any city in Britain’s thirteen North American colonies. This 1768 engraving shows the Convent of San Francisco de Asís, built in 1738 and located near the city’s port.






Part II A COLONY WORTH A KINGDOM







Chapter 4 HAVANA FOR FLORIDA


Today, the Castle of the Three Wise Men in Havana is perhaps the country’s most iconic landmark. Better known by the name of the Morro (a generic word for the high promontory on which it sits), its fortress and lighthouse stand watch over a city that in the eighteenth century was the third largest in the Americas—smaller than Mexico City and Lima, grander and richer than any in Britain’s thirteen North American colonies. A thousand ships could anchor without confusion in its harbor, and its shipbuilding yard was the largest anywhere in the New World. The city boasted elegant buildings made of stone and almost a dozen churches, many decked with lamps, candlesticks, and ornaments of gold and silver. In a Caribbean Sea dotted with cash-strapped island colonies, silver coins flowed so freely in Havana that one British merchant likened it to the lands of the biblical King Solomon.1

Havana was also the most fortified city in the New World. In addition to the Morro, two other large fortresses—the Castillo de la Real Fuerza and San Salvador de la Punta—guarded the entrance to the harbor. To the east and west, along the island’s north coast, thick-walled towers impeded coastal landings and blocked access to rivers that might lead enemies to Havana by a different route. A massive stone and mortar wall five feet thick and more than thirty feet high protected the heart of the city. Together these fortifications seemed to guarantee destruction to any potential invader. And, indeed, in the many years since the pirate attack of 1555, most were deterred from trying. Havana was invincible, “the inviolate symbol of Spain’s sovereignty in the west.”2

The Seven Years’ War threatened to change that. Sometimes known as the French and Indian War, it began in 1756 as a conflict between Britain and France over disputed territory in North America. While the war had drawn in many European states as allies of one or another camp, Spain had managed to remain on the margins for most of the war. In August 1761, however, the French and Spanish kings signed a “family compact,” so called because the men represented two branches of the Bourbon dynasty. The agreement publicly obligated the two signatories to stand with each other in conflicts with the British. In response to the agreement, Britain declared war on Spain on January 4, 1762. Immediately, Madrid sent word to Havana, but accident (or design) intervened. The British captured the ship carrying the letters, and the news never made it to Cuba, though rumors of a conflict did soon start to circulate.3

So, on Sunday morning, June 6, 1762, no one in the beautiful, fortified city that every European king wanted for his own knew with any certainty that their government was at war—not even the man who stood guard atop the Morro looking out to sea. That morning he spotted something unusual: more than two hundred British vessels approaching from the windward side, headed straight toward the city of Havana. Immediately he sent for the governor, Juan de Prado. Prado was on his way to Mass, but he rushed across the bay to assess the potential danger. As he peered through the telescope atop the lighthouse, he seemed more annoyed than impressed. It was just a commercial convoy, he determined, perhaps larger than usual because Britain and France were at war. There was no cause for alarm.4

Prado sailed back across the harbor to resume his Sunday routine. But he found the city in pandemonium. Havana denizens had spotted the British flotilla and assumed the worst. Church bells were ringing out alarms; people were flooding the Plaza de Armas to prepare. For the second time that morning, the governor became annoyed. Everyone was overreacting, he thought. When the ships cruised past the entrance to the harbor, his coolheadedness seemed vindicated.5

Prado’s relief, however, was short-lived. The ships sailed a few miles east of the city and then just stopped. Increasingly sure that the vessels meant to attack, the governor summoned all the troops in the capital—naval forces, regular Spanish troops, paid and volunteer militias, free Black and mulatto battalions. He called on slaveholders to send their enslaved to the city to help defend it. Urgent appeals for soldiers and volunteers also went out across the island. Still, with no sure knowledge of the war between Spain and England, many hoped for an explanation that would render all those preparations moot.6



THE MEN ABOARD THE BRITISH ships, however, were merely waiting out high winds and surf before launching their attack. Perhaps sensing the apprehension of his men as they looked ashore toward the city long deemed invincible, George Keppel, who was the Earl of Albemarle and commander in chief of the campaign, gathered his captains and gave a speech unsurprising for its time. “Courage, my lads,” he exhorted, “we shall soon be as rich as Jews, Havana is paved with gold which the lubberly Dons have gathered for us, and the Admiral has just given us leave to take yonder town with all its treasures.” Then the men drank to victory.7

The next morning, June 7, dawned with calm seas. Admiral Pocock, the commander of the expedition’s naval forces, raced to the mouth of the harbor with twelve ships. With the Spanish readying to repel them there, the much larger part of the expedition under Albemarle began disembarking about six miles east of the capital. “In one hour and without opposition or the loss of one man, the whole army was landed.” Then they began the slow march overland, their destination: the impregnable Morro fortress. By June 11, they had established a redoubt at the place known as La Cabaña, a rough, hilly area east of the Morro. There, “tortured by the heat of the tropical sun,” they began building artillery batteries to pound the Morro and its garrison into quick submission.8

The Spanish, recovering from their initial surprise, worked feverishly to deter the invaders. From the Morro, they fired on British columns coming from the east under Albemarle. At La Chorrera, where the smaller of the two British forces threatened from the west, Havana’s Black militia offered fierce resistance. In the city itself, Governor Prado ordered that women, children, and everyone not able to pick up a gun or machete evacuate the city immediately. Nuns in habits began trekking through terrain made almost impassable by recent rains, hiding sacramental ornaments in the folds of their robes to keep them from falling into British (and Protestant) hands. Prado ordered the burning of neighborhoods just outside the city walls to deny their refuge to the enemy. The people who lived there would take up arms or work in defense; if they were unable to do that, they were commanded to leave the city. Fearing that the British might offer freedom to slaves who joined them, Prado preemptively decreed that any enslaved person who defended the city would be given freedom, and he announced that locals would be given a cash reward for every British soldier they captured and turned over to authorities. Finally, he also ordered the sinking of three Spanish warships at the entrance to the harbor. The sunken vessels, together with the protective boom chain between the fortresses of the Morro and the Punta, were to prevent the invading naval forces from entering the harbor.9

The British, however, boasted two advantages that no such measures could eliminate: ships and men. Albemarle had arrived with thirty warships and more than two hundred transport and support vessels, while Havana had a fleet of only eighteen warships, four of them out of commission. The invasion forces numbered about ten thousand sailors, twelve thousand soldiers, two thousand slaves, and six hundred free Black militiamen. The Spanish could muster only a modest fighting force: about twenty-three hundred from the regular army and a larger force of close to five thousand from the volunteer militias.10

Everything seemed to be going Britain’s way. Albemarle threatened from the east with the bulk of the invading force and readied an attack on the Morro. Pocock’s forces prepared to squeeze the Spanish from the west. This was, without a doubt, an auspicious start to the most daring, ambitious campaign of the whole Seven Years’ War. It would have taken a miracle to save the place the English called “the Havannah.”



WARS, THOUGH, HAVE A WAY of reversing advantages and imposing suffering on everyone involved. A month into the siege, a British officer complained that the endeavor was proving “to be tuffer work, and the Spaniards more resolute than was at first imagined.”11 And as the Spanish forces resisted, the conflict ceased to be a naval siege and became a war of attrition on land.

While the British vastly outnumbered the Spanish, a determined foe can still wreak considerable damage. Among the enemies most determined to defeat the British were local men of color. Some were members of the free Black and mulatto militias, men who asserted both their legal freedom and their right to honor and dignity through military service. Others were enslaved men motivated by the governor’s promise of freedom for their service. On June 26, a group of thirteen such men stationed at the Morro marched out to repel an advance team of fourteen British soldiers heading their way. Machetes in hand, they killed one and took seven prisoners. The governor awarded them immediate freedom. With that as precedent, the number of slaves volunteering for service grew by the day, and a new fighting unit was created to accommodate them. On June 29, a group of enslaved men took forty-seven prisoners, captured three flags, and killed a captain; on July 13, Black fighters took four hundred British prisoners; on July 18, another group killed an artillery captain and took eighteen British prisoners. Freedom was mighty motivation, indeed.12

Of the enslaved men who waged battle against the British we know little. Sometimes their names survived precisely because they didn’t: Antonio Poveda killed by rifle shot on July 2; Antonio Agustín by a bomb fragment on July 4; Pedro by cannon shot on July 7. They died in battle, and their names survived because the king offered to compensate their masters for their value as chattel. But even when the names of Black fighters did not survive, stories of their exploits did. Half a century later, José Antonio Aponte, a free Black carpenter and the grandson of one of the Black militiamen who defended Havana against the British, painted pictures precisely of scenes like this, of Black troops taking British men prisoner, of military encampments guarded by Black soldiers. Indeed, Aponte would use those pictures to recruit Black men to a major conspiracy against slavery.13

In 1762, the British faced other formidable enemies—ones that required no training at all: climate and disease. While rains had poured on the city immediately before the siege, weeks of extreme heat and no rain after their arrival made the day-to-day work of the siege excruciating. Provisions ran out quickly, and the men had no regular access to fresh water. As they tried to build batteries on the Cabaña hill to attack the Morro, the baked soil broke the points of their tools. The heat and dryness (and fire from weapons on both sides) were such that in the middle of the night on July 3–4, the British forces awoke to find that all the batteries they had constructed were ablaze. In one hour, more than two weeks’ worth of work by some six hundred men—work that might have allowed them to take the Morro in a matter of days—was almost entirely destroyed.14 In a diary entry written on July 4, a British officer acknowledged that the men were growing fatigued. “The disappointment of the Morro’s not being reduced so speedily as at first they were made to hope,” he added, “helped to depress [their] spirits.”15

Disease depressed their spirits, too. The Spanish called it vómito negro—black vomit—because the blood in the vomit of the sick made it appear black in color. The English used a different color to name it: yellow fever, because the liver damage it caused turned the sufferer’s skin yellow. At the time, it was among the very deadliest of infectious diseases, aided in its spread by institutions such as the slave trade and warfare, both of which moved hundreds of thousands of people across continents and islands.

The first of British deserters arrived on the Spanish side just four days after their landing, announcing that men had started falling ill. One British officer wrote: “The carrion crows of the country kept constantly hovering over the graves which rather hid than buried the dead, and frequently scratched away the scanty earth, leaving in every mangled corpse a spectacle of unspeakable loathsomeness and terror to those who, by being engaged in the same enterprise, were exposed to the same fate.” British desperation was such that Albemarle was soon contemplating ending the siege, taking his men to recover or die elsewhere, and leaving Havana untaken, invincible after all.16

That was what the Spanish hoped for, certainly. If they could prolong the battle, they might compel the British to desist.17 Unfortunately for them, they were subject to the same weather as the British, and they, too, experienced the scourge of yellow fever. In fact, they had been suffering from it since 1760, when an epidemic began ravaging the city and surrounding area. Now it was much worse and the stakes infinitely higher.18

Death was everywhere: in the city under siege, in the fortresses that protected it, in the waters that surrounded it. On June 16, Prado announced that anyone caught committing even the slightest theft would be immediately hanged without trial. The governor was true to his word. Every day, people were executed—for robbery, for providing intelligence to the enemy, for selling them supplies, sometimes for violent assaults. Bodies hanging from scaffolds became part of the landscape of the besieged capital. The governor ordered that all dogs in the city be killed—from hunger they would howl through the night—and it was done immediately. At the closing of many battles came the ritual flag of truce. Then the Spanish marched in among their enemies to retrieve their dead and bury them. Men on both sides of the war sometimes sought escape from the carnage by jumping into the water and then drowned. On some days, the harbor was crowded with their floating corpses.19 The two parties were locked in a violent, destructive waiting game. Unable to counter the British, Prado hoped for a passive victory, delivered not by military might but by yellow fever and hurricane season. Albemarle, meanwhile, wavered between contemplating retreat and praying that their slow, tortured advance on the Morro would bear fruit while enough of them were still alive to occupy the city.



IT WAS THEN, MORE THAN seven weeks into the siege, that British reinforcements arrived from New York City. From the start, King George had known that taking Havana would be no easy task and that North American forces would be necessary. Most colonists, however, were reluctant to serve in the Caribbean, where tropical diseases were almost as deadly as foreign armies. So, the Crown was willing to do some enticing. King George authorized Albemarle to offer the provincials, as they were then called, “any further Douceurs… and to take special care that they be treated with all such proper attention and humanity.”20

In the end, organizing the North American portion of the expedition required less douceur than simple deception. Jeffrey Amherst, commander of the British Army in North America, wrote to the governors of New York, Connecticut, New Jersey, and Rhode Island, asking them to produce the requisite number of volunteers. He promised that the men would have every indulgence, that they would not be fatigued by the long marches of past campaigns, and that they would return home quickly. Amherst mentioned nothing about Cuba, even though he knew that Havana was their destination. Perhaps because he was so purposely vague, or because of swirling rumors of a Caribbean campaign, the colonial assembly in New York asked for assurances that the men would be employed only on the North American continent. Amherst prevaricated: “Their destination must remain a secret for the present as I am not at liberty to divulge it.”21

Once the men arrived in New York, it did not take long for everyone to figure out their destination. The largest number of men (about one thousand) were from Connecticut. Major General Phineas Lyman and Lieutenant Colonel Israel Putnam, later a Revolutionary War hero, served at the head of the forces. The men they commanded were mostly farmers and sons of farmers. Among them was seventeen-year old Levi Redfield, who volunteered for service eager to fight the French in North America. Now he sat aboard one of eleven ships in New York Harbor with thousands of volunteers such as himself, forbidden from going ashore for fear of desertion once the men realized that they were bound for Cuba.22

Their arrival in Havana on July 28 cheered and heartened the weary Brits. Maybe now they could finally storm the Morro. Between the British encampment on the Cabaña and the Morro fortress lay a great ditch cut in the solid rock, fifty-six feet wide and sixty-three feet deep. British engineers had decided that their best chance to take the Morro was to sink a deep shaft into the rock, run mines in it, and then detonate them. The explosions would throw a great mass of rocks into the gulf and thus make it possible for British troops to storm the fortress by foot. The contingent from New York arrived just in time to finish that work.23

At two o’clock in the afternoon on July 30, the British exploded the mines. Rock flew everywhere, filling the ditch and immediately killing the Spanish sentries and grenadiers. Then the British, led by the 3rd Regiment of Royal Americans, stormed the fortress. The Spanish tried resisting the attack, but to no avail. Their commander, Luis Velasco, fell mortally wounded. A crusty fifty-year-old sailor who had spent thirty-five years at sea, he had resisted the British for forty-five days. When he fell, the others surrendered the fort. More than five hundred men on the Spanish side were killed, wounded, or captured that day, and the rest escaped by boat to Havana or drowned trying. By 5 p.m., the British flag was raised over the fort.24 After a siege of seven weeks and five days, the unconquerable Morro had finally fallen.

The rest was just a matter of time, and not much time at that. With the Spanish defeated at the Morro, the British were free to attack Havana from all sides. Thirty Americans were put to work building platforms so that the guns of the Morro could assault the Spanish fort across the bay. The artillery fire was relentless, stopping only briefly to allow for the hasty burial of the Morro’s old commander Luis Velasco. As more troops arrived from New York, they built more batteries, and the fire kept intensifying. On August 10, Albemarle sent a letter to the Spanish governor. Surrender, he said, and avoid the total destruction of the city. Prado refused. At daybreak on August 11, all the British batteries opened fire: forty-three pieces of cannon and eight mortars. One by one, the remaining Spanish positions were silenced, and by two in the afternoon, the Spanish had surrendered the city.25 Havana—Key to the New World—was now British territory, part of the same empire as the thirteen colonies.



EVERYWHERE, THE BRITISH CELEBRATED. IN London, the Duke of Cumberland wrote to Albemarle, “You have made me the happiest man existing.” He was so happy, in fact, that when he saw Albemarle’s elderly mother at a party, he almost kissed her, in public, in the drawing room. From Philadelphia, Ben Franklin wrote to a friend congratulating him on the taking of Havana; it would help guarantee favorable terms of peace in the war just ended, provided “John Bull does not get drunk with victory, double his fists and bid all the world kiss his Arse.” In Boston, a public sermon in honor of the victory was frank in a different way: “We have an account of great Sums of Money already found, from which our Forces, under the General Lord Albemarle and Admiral Pocock we hope will reap a rich Reward of their great Toils and Valour.”26

As conqueror of Havana, Albemarle was hoping for the same thing. He held court immediately on entering the city as victor and installing himself as governor. Prominent Havana residents came to see him. According to a story later told to the king of Spain, one visitor presented him a guacamaya—a colorful red macaw then native to Cuba and now extinct. Albemarle was not impressed. “He didn’t want birds,” he said, “he wanted silver.” Another visitor collected contributions from local sugar mill owners and presented him with a gift of a large quantity of sugar. Again, the new British governor balked. “An innkeeper in England has more wealth,” he complained. “He deserved ten times as much!”27 Whether or not these particular stories were true—they were relayed to the king by Albemarle’s fiercest detractor—there is no denying that the men who conquered the city profited handsomely: almost £123,000 each for Albemarle and Pocock, with smaller amounts distributed by rank all the way down to ordinary soldiers and sailors, who received just over £3 and £4, respectively.28

For many British, perhaps especially ordinary soldiers and sailors, the payment may have seemed unequal to the hardship suffered. Even after the siege was over, the men kept dying. Albemarle lost three thousand men to disease in the two months after Spain’s surrender. The North American recruits, who had arrived in Havana as the yellow fever epidemic peaked, had the highest mortality rates among the British forces. They were sent back to New York, as the king had promised. But on the ships, they continued to die. Levi Redfield, the Connecticut teenager who volunteered for service, saw his brother and twenty-one others die on the journey home. Not only did many return home sick and grieving, but many were also “in a dissatisfied frame of mind.” They had suffered much, and their recompense, they thought, was meager.29

Albemarle, meanwhile, stayed in Havana and reaped his monetary rewards. Whatever his profit, victory had also made him governor of Havana and all its people. Now technically Spanish subjects of his British Majesty, they were free to practice Catholicism, just as they were allowed to preserve all their property intact. By agreement, Havana’s City Council continued to operate and to run the day-to-day work of government. Albemarle appointed his lieutenant governor and other officials from within its ranks. He banned British soldiers from visiting bars to avoid potential contretemps with the locals, and he held elaborate weekly soirées. Sparsely attended at first, they soon became the talk of the town. There, British officers and merchants dined and drank with members of Havana’s most prominent families. The daughters of planters and merchants danced with British officers; some struck up courtships, and some of those courtships even inspired ditties.30



WHILE IT IS HARD TO imagine that as loyal Spanish subjects, Havana’s wealthy residents would have wished for a British victory, now that one had come, they rushed to make it work in their favor. For them, more than anything else, that meant developing a sugar industry.

Today, sugar is so ordinary, so unremarkable that it is hard to grasp the unbridled enthusiasm it provoked among Havana’s elite. Once a luxury for aristocrats, it was fast becoming a staple in the diets of poor and working people in Europe and North America. Sugar added sweetness—and calories—to bitter tea and coffee, two other tropical products on the rise. As the Industrial Revolution took root, sugar, combined with tea or coffee, sometimes served as substitutes for food—proletarian hunger killers, in the words of anthropologist Sidney Mintz.31

Sugar’s transformation from the treat of kings to a product of mass consumption also changed the history of the New World and Africa. It resulted in the deforestation of vast amounts of land in the Western Hemisphere and the repeopling of places where the original population had been largely decimated by conquest. Because sugar required massive amounts of labor, it was the major impetus to the transatlantic slave trade. Roughly two-thirds of the almost eleven million Africans forcibly landed in the New World ended up working in sugar.

Produced in massive quantities, sugar was immensely profitable. And at the time of the siege of Havana, the British knew this perhaps better than anyone else. England’s first experiment with the crop was in Barbados, an island just fourteen by twenty-one miles wide. The combination of European sugarcane, land largely emptied of its Native population, and the importation and labor of hundreds of thousands of Africans—an estimated 350,000 between just 1625 and 1750—made the small island Britain’s most profitable colony at the time. As the soil became depleted, the British re-created the model elsewhere. By the time of the siege of Havana in 1762, Jamaica had supplanted Barbados as the brightest jewel of the empire, having received more than 513,000 African captives, most of them aboard British slavers.32

Havana’s hinterland, by contrast, had fewer than a hundred sugar mills, with a total of perhaps some four thousand slaves—thoroughly unimpressive compared to British Jamaica.33 But the men who owned those mills and held those people in slavery knew well who Havana’s new conqueror was. It was Britain, whose Caribbean colonies produced much of the world’s sugar and whose ships carried a majority of the African captives sold in the Americas. Suddenly under British rule, those Cuban planters quickly concluded that it was their turn now. They would use the occupation to reap the great rewards of sugar for themselves.

British policy in Cuba helped them do just that. Albemarle immediately abolished Spanish taxes. British merchants (including those from the thirteen colonies) descended on Havana. More than seven hundred private British vessels arrived during the occupation (compared to under twenty the entire year before). Traders came to purchase Cuban tobacco, hides, meat, tortoiseshells, lumber, and, of course, sugar. Among them were men like William Bedlow, first postmaster of New York City and part of the Bedlow family for whom the Statue of Liberty’s island was named. North American merchants arrived to sell their products as well: flour, cloth, sugar-making equipment, even beaver hats, which had become all the rage in Havana, despite the climate. One Spanish official complained that the quantity of North American goods arriving in Havana was so large that it would take years to consume it all.34

But what Cuban sugar planters most craved was a very different kind of commodity: human beings. Planters had already been advocating an expansion of the slave trade, believing that access to cheap labor would propel them to greater prosperity. At the time, the British were the main players in the lucrative business of the transatlantic slave trade. And British traders knew two things about Havana: there was an untapped market for African captives, and buyers had ready cash in silver.

According to one source, a British slave ship was already in the harbor waiting for Spain’s capitulation to become final. As soon as it did, the ship coasted into port and began selling its human cargo. To run the occupation-era slave trade to Cuba, Albemarle selected John Kennion, a Liverpool merchant, who as part owner of ten slave ships had amassed enough money to buy his own sugar plantations in Jamaica. Albemarle gave him an exclusive license to import African captives. Among Kennion’s clients were some of the most prominent people in the city, men like Laureano Chacón, a municipal official who had only recently led men in battle against the British invaders, and Sebastian Peñalver, who served as Albemarle’s lieutenant governor in the occupation. All told, the British appeared to have introduced about thirty-two hundred African captives to Havana in the ten months of occupation. To help put that in perspective, it is useful to recall that, before the occupation, the number of enslaved workers in the sugar mills ringing Havana numbered about four thousand. In other words, in less than a year, the British expanded the size of Havana’s enslaved population by about 80 percent. With more enslaved laborers, and with obstacles to trade removed, the sugar industry soared.35

It is perhaps for this reason—the impetus to sugar and slavery—that the British occupation of Havana is often accorded enormous importance in Cuban history. The British occupation did not create Cuba’s sugar industry, but it did give it a commanding boost. It was a harbinger of a new Cuba—and a lasting one. The island’s reliance on sugar as the basis of its economy would expand significantly in the decades after British rule; indeed, it would endure for more than two centuries.



AS PEOPLE IN HAVANA WERE adjusting to the occupation, European monarchs were negotiating a treaty to end the Seven Years’ War. Everyone wondered what would happen to the city long regarded as the key to the Indies. The Spanish desperately wanted it back; the British were divided. Jamaican planters, who had a huge influence in Parliament, were not keen for competition from Cuba. British statesman William Pitt, who had long lobbied for taking Havana, thought that Britain should absolutely hold it. When he heard that the preliminary treaty surrendered it, he left his sickbed and appeared before the House of Commons. In a speech of more than three hours, he fumed against a treaty that “obscured all the glories of the war [and] surrendered the dearest interests of the nation.”36

As Pitt feared, under the 1763 Treaty of Paris, Britain gave up Havana. In exchange, Spain ceded Florida—the first time, but certainly not the last, that the fates of glorious Havana and swampy Florida became entangled. Spaniards in Florida packed up and sailed to Havana. In their place arrived new settlers, mostly North Americans from colder colonies. Among them were men who had taken part in the expedition against Havana and who a few years later would join a revolution against the British.37

In Havana, British rule ended thirteen months after the Morro guard first spotted Albemarle’s two hundred ships on the horizon. On July 4, 1763, a new Spanish governor, the Count of Ricla, arrived to retake possession of one of Spain’s oldest colonies. His troops marched into the city, into the Morro citadel where so many had lost their lives a year earlier, and into every fortress and guard post in the city and its surroundings. At each one, the British flag was lowered and a Spanish one raised in its place. Food and drink flowed; parties lasted around the clock. On the third day, the new governor summoned every enslaved person who had fought on Spain’s behalf and had not yet been granted freedom. So many came that it took the governor more than two weeks to hear their cases. He freed at least 156, posting their names publicly, so that there would be no confusion over their status.38

Shortly after his arrival, Ricla also began a major fortification project on the Cabaña hill. Had a fortress existed there before, the British siege might well have had a different outcome. When the new fort was finally finished in 1774 and the king of Spain was notified, he asked for his telescope. The Havana fortress had cost so much and taken so long to build, he said, that surely it would be visible from Spain.39

The story of the telescope is likely apocryphal, but had the king been able to see across the Iberian Peninsula and the Atlantic Ocean, he would have observed a Havana different in degree rather than in kind from the one Albemarle had invaded in 1762. Massive fortresses guarded the impressive city. Four thousand regular troops and some six thousand militia members drilled in city streets every Sunday, their presence giving the city the air of a grand urban barracks. In the wide, deep harbor that the whole world celebrated, he would have noticed more ships, many entering with African captives, others leaving with tobacco, woods, hides, and sugar. In fact, by the time the Cabaña fortress was finished, sugar exports were already at around ten thousand tons a year, more than five times greater than before the British siege. Even the most powerful telescope, however, would not have allowed him to see that the standing army there was now predominantly Cuban- rather than Spanish-born. He could not have seen that the bricks used in his expensive new fortress came from Virginia and New York. Nor could he have detected that many of the merchants swarming the port spoke English with the accents of Baltimore and Boston, New York and Charleston.40






Chapter 5 MOST FAVORED NATION


On January 12, 1776, a visitor arrived in Havana: Fichacgé of the Uchiz Nation—chief of twenty-nine Indian towns on Florida lands that had earlier belonged to his people, later to Spain, and, since the 1763 Treaty of Paris, to Britain. The visitor arrived with deer pelts and horses, and he offered his protection to the fishermen who came from Cuba to fish off the Florida coast. In exchange, his people wanted clothing, tools, and boats—Indian canoes were not really designed to transport horses. He wanted something else, too: Spain’s help in making war on British colonists who were encroaching on their land. Delegations such as Fichacgé’s were common in Havana; Creek emissaries from Georgia and Alabama had made nineteen such visits between 1763 and 1776. On this occasion, Havana’s governor gave Fichacgé of the Uchiz Nation his customary three-part answer. Please, could they stop showing up in Havana uninvited; he had no authority to grant the things requested; finally, he could offer no help against the British, as the two countries were at peace.1 The Seven Years’ War and the siege of Havana were fresh enough in everyone’s memory to make the thought of provoking Britain an uneasy proposition.

This was 1776, however, and invitations to anger the British were everywhere. On July 4 of that year, colonists from Georgia to New Hampshire proclaimed independence from their mother country. The leaders of that effort—men such as George Washington of Virginia and Ben Franklin of Philadelphia—understood the same truth that Fichacgé of Uchiz did: war required allies, preferably ones with deep pockets and powerful navies.

To seek out such allies for the American Revolution, the recently established Continental Congress sent emissaries to Paris. The best known was Ben Franklin, who wore a coonskin cap instead of a powdered wig and seemed to Parisians the embodiment of a new age. Franklin’s colleague Arthur Lee, a Virginia physician turned lawyer and diplomat, was less popular. His detractors described him as having “an unpleasant stiffness in conversation, a family homeliness of feature, an ill natured asperity of manners, and a selfishness very ill adapted to his present exalted situation.” Even Lee’s allies complained that he could not “easily govern his temper.” Apparently a jealous man, he resented the popularity of Benjamin Franklin. An impatient man, he fretted that the French were too slow in providing aid. He knew, as well, that it was only the joint support of France and Spain that would “give the fullest alarm” to Britain. Convinced of the wisdom of his logic and waiting for approval from no one, Lee embarked on a perilous journey across the Pyrenees to reach the Court of Spain, uninvited and unannounced. This was what some would later call “guerrilla diplomacy.”2

When the king in Madrid heard that Lee was on his way to see him, he balked. Madrid was a small, landlocked capital, full of British spies. The American, he decided, would not be received. By the time word of the king’s refusal reached Paris, however, Lee was already on his way. Spanish officials sent letters to every obvious stopping point on the route from the French border to Madrid. Whoever found him was to notify authorities and to keep him from continuing on to the capital. The king’s representatives would come to him instead. Lee, the letter said, might be using a false name, but he would be easy to spot nonetheless: he spoke no Spanish and had absolutely no knowledge of the country. Surely he would stand out.

An official of the royal mails easily spotted the American at a tavern in Burgos, some 150 miles north of Madrid, and asked him to await the arrival of Spain’s minister of state, the Marquis de Grimaldi, who was fluent in Spanish and French, and Diego de Gardoqui, a Basque merchant who was fluent in English and had extensive trading experience in North America. Lee, the representative of a government that no one yet recognized and that was still far from defeating Britain, seemed eager to observe some of the rituals of international diplomacy. So, when the three men sat down for their important conversation on Spain’s possible support for the American Revolution, Lee insisted that they all speak French. There was just one problem: Lee’s French was exceedingly poor. Grimaldi tried speaking slowly, but Lee couldn’t form responses in the language he insisted everyone speak. In this halting, frustrating conversation in three languages, Lee finally conveyed his message: the fate of the revolution rested with the Bourbon monarchs. Without the assistance of both France and Spain, the colonists could never win.3

It was probably lucky for Lee and the Americans that the Spanish had already decided to help, even before that awkward meeting. The Spanish promised to open a line of credit for the Continental Congress at a bank in Holland. They offered supplies, immediately dispatching three thousand barrels of gunpowder and blankets for the American troops. They authorized the transfer of Mexican silver through Havana to the revolutionaries. Finally, they extended assistance in the form of trade. Henceforth, the merchants and vessels of the American Revolution would be welcomed in Havana as “a most favored nation.”4



DESPITE THE INAUSPICIOUS BEGINNING OF the American Revolution’s overtures to the Spanish-speaking world, Spain—the New World’s oldest colonial power—opted to support the hemisphere’s first anticolonial movement. For the revolutionaries, the promise of Spanish aid and access to trade in Havana was a major triumph. Spanish currency—the famous silver pieces of eight—was the preferred coinage not only in the thirteen colonies, but also across much of the globe. Havana received a regular subsidy of Mexican silver to cover the island’s military and administrative expenditures. The government there usually had a substantial supply on hand. Spain’s support and its promise of access to Havana thus guaranteed the revolutionaries access to the most valuable money in the world.

For Spain, however, the decision to aid the American colonists was not a simple one. On the one hand, Britain was Spain’s traditional enemy. For more than a century, it had challenged Spain’s claims to territory in both the old and new worlds. The recent and humiliating defeat in the Seven Years’ War was a fresh memory. The North American rebellion, then, presented an opportunity to retaliate and to regain territory lost to Britain—Florida, certainly, and maybe even Jamaica or Gibraltar.

On the other hand, the Spanish had powerful reasons not to help the Americans. Spain held territory contiguous to the rebellious colonies. To side with the revolutionaries was to invite a British attack, and Spain stood to lose a lot: the lower Mississippi Valley, Cuba, Puerto Rico, Santo Domingo. Moreover, as a monarchy with its own American colonies to safeguard, Spain was not easily inclined to embrace Americans fighting for independence from a European king. Would that not set a dangerous precedent? Might not Spain’s own colonists attempt something similar? Who were these British colonists anyway? Should they win, what would stop them from expanding into Spanish or once-Spanish territory in the Louisianas, Floridas, and beyond?

So, even as Spanish leaders promised assistance, they hedged their bets and turned to that time-tested practice in the diplomatic arsenal of states: spying. Because Havana already had significant commercial links with the thirteen colonies, authorities in Madrid instructed its governor to use those links to gather information on the North American revolutionaries. Havana’s governor chose a merchant named Juan de Miralles for the task. Born in Spain, Miralles had lived in Havana since 1740 and spoke fluent English. He was also a slave trader with ties to North American merchants doing business in Cuba. He had served as the official representative of the outfit that held the slave trade monopoly in Havana. The company’s representative in Philadelphia was Robert Morris, delegate to the Continental Congress. Miralles thus had an almost automatic entrée to the highest echelons of the American Revolution. He prepared a new will, and on December 31, 1777, he set sail from Havana, ready to execute his mission.5

Pretending to have encountered trouble with his vessel en route to Spain, Miralles landed in Charleston, South Carolina, early in the new year. His performance exceeded all expectations. A massive fire in the city’s business district on January 15 gave Miralles the opportunity to play the role of benefactor. He lent the state of South Carolina a hefty sum to help with relief efforts. The city’s most distinguished residents invited him into their homes. Whenever it made sense, Miralles mentioned his desire to propose to the Continental Congress an expansion of trade between Havana and the thirteen colonies. Receptive, the governor arranged for him to travel northward with delegates returning to session after the holidays, and he gave Miralles letters to take to Henry Laurens, a Charleston merchant and slave trader then serving as president of the Continental Congress.6

Miralles “travelled in style, with five mounts so that his horse would always be fresh.” All along the way, he was welcomed by some of the American Revolution’s most important figures. He visited the headquarters of George Washington in Middlebrook, New Jersey. Eager to win Spanish recognition of American independence, Washington lavished great attention on him. Designating the day’s signs and countersigns, he made one of them “Don Juan” for Miralles himself. The Americans staged a review of the troops and a mock battle for him. Decked in a suit of crimson and aiguillettes of gold, Miralles marched in a parade with the revolutionary leaders: Washington on “his bright bay with the grace of a perfect horseman,” and “the slender and erect Colonel Hamilton, with his distinguished presence and aristocratic bearing.”7

Miralles had a front seat for the heady days of the American Revolution. Soon after that first visit to Washington’s headquarters, Miralles accompanied the Continental Congress on its triumphant entry into Philadelphia in June 1778, when the British withdrew from the city for the last time. He participated in the city’s first Fourth of July celebrations, rented a house on Third Street, and dined weekly with Continental Congress president Henry Laurens, who called him a man of “honorable deportment” and “personal merit.” Miralles had Christmas dinner with George and Martha Washington and cohosted a New Year’s Eve banquet for them and seventy other guests.8 His closest associate in Philadelphia was Robert Morris, merchant, slave trader, and the man who came to be known as the financier of the American Revolution. Together they established what one historian calls “a private shipping channel” between Havana and Philadelphia. After Congress lifted its embargo on the export of flour, they sent thousands of barrels, which always commanded a high price in Havana, payable, of course, in the famed and coveted Spanish pieces of eight.9

Miralles was busy in Philadelphia, conducting business, visiting new statesmen, and socializing. But he was also on a political mission. In that capacity, he exerted pressure on both the Spanish and American governments. Communicating regularly to officials in Madrid and Havana, Miralles extolled the virtues of the men who would come to be known as the Founding Fathers. He insisted that they could win the war, that they were worthy, and that the Spanish could work with them. It was his sincere hope that Spain make an alliance with them and declare war on the British. The king ultimately agreed.

From the Americans, meanwhile, Miralles sought an important concession on behalf of Madrid: North American recognition of Spain’s right to reclaim Florida. Meeting with members of Congress, Miralles stressed that this was a small price to pay for Spain’s help. In addition, Spain, which was then master of Louisiana and the port of New Orleans, was also promising to grant the new country free navigation of the Mississippi River “into and from the sea.” The Continental Congress voted on September 17, 1779. Some delegates—already imagining Florida as part of their new Union—voted against the proposal. But a majority, George Washington among them, believed that they needed Spain’s help to defeat Britain, and they voted to recognize its claim to Florida. To celebrate the deepening of the two countries’ alliance, Miralles sent Washington a hundred-pound sea tortoise.10

American revolutionaries could now count on greater Spanish naval and financial assistance; Britain, meanwhile, would face another powerful threat and distraction. Miralles wrote to Washington that a thousand regular troops had left Havana for New Orleans to attack the British in the lower Mississippi; another group was soon to embark for Pensacola. A Spanish attack there, Washington believed, would draw the British away from South Carolina and Georgia. With renewed confidence, he predicted “this formidable junction of the House of Bourbon will not fail of establishing the Independance [sic] of America in a short time.”11

Washington’s predictions notwithstanding, victory did not come quickly. The winter of 1780 was the most trying of all the war. At Washington’s camp in Morristown, New Jersey, thirty miles from the British in New York, troops suffered through the worst snowstorms in living memory. Even inside their tents, men with single blankets—and sometimes without—were “buried like sheep under the snow.”12 It was still cold on April 19, when Miralles arrived in Washington’s camp for an extended visit. Four days later, suffering a high fever, he summoned Alexander Hamilton and a few friends to his bedside to compose a new will, naming as executors his secretary, Francisco Rendón, and his business partner Robert Morris. Surrounded by his new friends, Miralles died a few days later on April 28. Hamilton arranged the funeral, consulting with the Spanish secretary to make sure everything was done in proper Catholic form. Morris and Washington walked as chief mourners, along with other army officers and members of Congress, in a funeral procession that extended for more than a mile. Miralles was laid out “in a scarlet suit embroidered with rich gold lace, a three-cornered gold-laced hat,… large diamond shoe and knee-buckles, a profusion of diamond rings decorated the fingers, and from a superb gold watch set with diamonds, several rich seals were suspended.” He was laid out so richly that a guard was placed at the grave, lest the soldiers “be tempted to dig for hidden treasure.” The next day, Washington wrote to Havana with the news: “I the more sincerely sympathize with you in the loss of so estimable a friend, as ever since his residence with us, I have been happy in ranking him among the number of mine. It must however be some consolation to his connexions to know that in this Country he has been universally esteemed and [his death] will be universally regretted.”13
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